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Characteristics of The Growth Enterprise Market (“"GEM") of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a
high investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The
greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to
professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.
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Corporate Review
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e Establishment of the Group
o REBE T

¢ Winning of 2000 HK Industry Award
s MB-—ZETFHBIER

¢ Development of technologies and applications

o RffgR pE AR

e Listing on The Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

e Establishment of wholly owned PRC subsidiary:
ITE (China) Limited in Shanghai

e Winning of 2001 HK Industry Award

e Acquisition of leading IT System Integrator, Quesco

Hemac’ ~ J Holdings Limited and Quesco Systems Limited on
' 7 December 2001
e Launched hardware products for smartcard system under * REBMERZERATRFRRTS LT
the trademark of "HOMAC" s RPE LERYEEWBE AR : LMK ERAKERAA
* Awarded with important smartcard and RFID projects in Hong Kong c B =T -FBHBIXR
* LITHOMAC | ot B2 it B ek R R E B E * R=FF-—F+=A Lt BERBATEEIMLUNERNMERR
* REBIESEEABEFRIVEMA TR ERE - EREEERERATARENRAGEBERAT
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e Accreditation of ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System

e Launched new ISO15693 product series and solutions

e Patent filing of 1SO15693 based Smart Key Management System (SKMS)
accepted by the State Intellectual Property Office of the People’s Republic of
China

e Awarded with the first ISO15693 Smartlabel project in Hong Kong

Strategic Business Agreement signed with Shanghai Public Traffic Card

Company Limited (SPTCC) for the provision of value-added solutions and

services to its user community

Entered into distributor agreement with Texas Instruments for marketing,

sales and support of its product ranges

Became the sub-issuer of MULTOS

Receiving of Caring Company Award

HU481S0 9001:2000 E ER R AR H

HH—R5ISO15693E M KRR R

LUSO15693 B ER M E L EERARENRFRTHABRAUNERREFN R

218

BREABEEISO156938 HERAK IR

B EFARTERROBERARETERERE  AERFHRAEERASR

R BR#

BEEEMER DRI DEHER - REHERFEE - HERIE

* HBMULTOSHZE TR

o B [BRREE]ER

2003

e Geographical expansion into Macao

e Appointed as an international channel partner of Transcore, LP

e Patent filing of Automated Passenger Management System (APMS) accepted
by the State Intellectual Property Office of the People’s Republic of China

e Accredited as one of the fastest growing technology companies by Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu in the “2003 Asia Pacific Technology Fast 500"

s EMHMREERM
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* & Transcore, LP ZIE BB

s HikEBRBEERRAAEMNRBFRETEERNBERSEF
REE

e EEEH BMERAIEHMTEZAZF_EIRAMBESHES
MR50058 | EHTER

o Establishment of ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada

e Contract award of the Macao SAR Customs Services
" Automated Vehicle Clearance System” &
Public Security Forces Affairs Bureau
" Automated Passenger Clearance System”

e Successfully completed the I1SO 9001:2000
Quality Assurance System Audit

e Awarded the Caring Company by The Hong Kong Council
of Social Service

o I BERL (RF) BRAOF

° FIVEEURMBSRITHESHE [ERADERASR IR
REZBEEHRE [TREEDBEAZRS | T2

° MIUTEALISO 9001: 2000 EBEREE BB RHEAE

o EEWMTENERARREE] SR

e Winning of “Hong Kong Awards For Industries 2005 —
Machinery and Equipment Design Award” for Automated
Passenger Management System (“APMS")

e Awarded of Computer Registration Management System of
the Construction Worker Registration Authority, HKSAR

e QSL passed the ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System

e Successfully completed the Hong Kong Marathon 2005

e Joined “Give Blood Give Live” — Blood Donation Day for the
Hong Kong Red Cross Blood Transfusion Service

s [REAEBEARAS I KE_STAEB IR - BHERRK
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° B TR E B FHIHA2005

e BELSHEE B+ FER/MITE

e Official launch of Computer Registration Management System of the
Construction Worker Registration Authority, HKSAR

e Overseas expansion in Middle East and Southeast Asia

e Establishment of Intellectual Property Rights Centre

e ITE Smartcard Solutions Ltd. implemented the first Automated Passenger
Clearance System (“APCS”) of the Public Security Forces Services Bureau,
Macao SAR at the Barrier Gate Checkpoint

e |TE and Quesco staff completed the Hong Kong Marathon 2006

¢ |ITE and Quesco received the “Caring Company Logo” by The Hong Kong
Council of Social Welfare for four years and two years respectively

e Successfully completed Exhibition in “IT Week 2005” Macao

e The ITE Smart Key Management System Patent was successfully granted by
State Intellectual Property Office of the People’s Republic of China

s BEET AGMEERNEMEEIMEBERKEXRARS

s EBEHERBRARE  ARDSEFRRRETERER

o BN A EREH O
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BREIEEE

o BERENETRIUTHERFH2006

o BIRBEAFRERIEETEM [HRRBIEEF

o BERDTARRM [EABHLE2005] RE

s BERDENPEARANBERIHERER [BREABDERMEZRAS | ER

,Q)rporate Review
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¢ Winning of “Hong Kong Awards For Industries 2007 — Machinery
and Equipment Design Award Certificate of Merit” for “Wireless
Smartcard Transaction Controller featuring Bluetooth technology”

e Official Launch of Extension of Macao Automated Passenger
Management System (“APMS")

e Granting of Research Funding by Innovation and Technology
Commission of HK to RF Tech Ltd.

e Forming Strategic Partnership with Macao Pass Card

e New Trademark and Logo for RF Tech Ltd.’s Software Product
Series (“intelli”)

e Granting of the First U.S. Design Patent by the United States
Patent and Trademark Office to RF Tech Ltd.

o [ERETEGRIMNEEFRIEHR | RE_SSLFEET
I — MR R RERETHE

o IEEHBRPIRE B BIBRAEERL ([APMS]) HIERRA

* RF Tech Ltd. B ZhEREBRAIFRHR BN AT R MSRES

o 82 [RPYE | AR SR

o [intelli | ZEfBALARF Tech Lid ST E R ARSI EEREF

* RF Tech Ltd. FR I EEUEEIEFIEE R K R ER
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e Become the regional channel partner of the world leading smartcard and digital
security company, Gemalto SA

e Completion of the first Innovation and Technology Commission funded research and
development project, Embedded Computer Vision Escalator Passenger Monitor, together
with a PCT patent filed

e Delivery of the first multi-applications smartcard system built on MacaoPass Card for
a luxury real estate complex in Macao

e Completion of a sophisticated equipment asset management system for the Macao
Prison using RFID technologies

e Completion of the first smartcard driven passage management and access control
system for the Lingnan University

¢ Collaboration with the Hong Kong Polytechnic University through the first technology
transfer and licensing arrangement for a digital security product

o EIRIRE B~ R HIB RREM BB E VA Gemalto SABE S1ER M

CHEEBANMNKBEESEYNER - [RAXFSERRERBARERERE
B |- BRI - WEBER SRR EEREF

o BB RS EHEENRMIBE RS MR RGNRELEER

© B TH AP BEIRE 3 AR E A SR B B T ) E B IR 248

e AERABRUBEEEFEERMIERR

e EEBIE T AEEESE  BBRMELRREHBZRER

ITE (Holdings) Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2009-2010 3§

e Delivery of the first campus smartcard system based on Macau
Pass Card for Macao Pui Ching Middle School

e Partnering with Canon Hong Kong for the development of Macau
Pass Card driven e-payment solution for their photocopiers

e System migration from contact to contactless smartcards for The
Chinese University of Hong Kong

o Award of hospital-wide access control system contracts for Queen
Elizabeth Hospital, Grantham Hospital, The Duchess of Kent
Children’s Hospital and Tung Wah Hospital

o Award of contract for the provision of computer personnel services
for the Hong Kong Hospital Authority

o Completion of Exhibition in “CARTES in Asia”

o BTN ARPIEER 2R RIVENRMBEFNRE SRS
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Chairman’s Statement

ITE Smartcard Solutions-Limited (“ITES”) continues to provide
products and services to our new and existing clients

ER-ZAEERAN A ([EHERFE]) B R EEFIeRREEEE

o K AR TS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the "Directors”),
| hereby present the annual results for ITE (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, “ITE” or the “Group") for the
year ended 31 March 2010.

Mission

The mission of the Group is to become the leading smartcard, radio
frequency identification (“RFID"), biometrics product and solution provider
and system integrator in the world. ITE has been pioneering and has
achieved outstanding performance in the areas of smartcard system
solutions and integration services in the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“Hong Kong” or “HKSAR"”), the Macao Special Administrative
Region (“Macao”) and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). With
profound expertise, strong research and development (“R&D") capability,
proven track record and excellent reputation, the Group has established a
leading profile in our own industry and has adopted a proactive approach
to introduce innovative and customised smartcard, RFID and biometrics
applications to our clients. Leveraging on our extensive industry experience
and intellectual assets, ITE will continue to develop innovative products
and multi-applications solutions for clients coming from different industries
and to expand our businesses to more overseas countries.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Overview

The Group continued to stay firm on our core business and technology,
we operated under our vision and mission together with the set of core
values, and all staff contributed their best effort to build up for the
Group intellectual assets and excellence which reinforce our foundation
to embrace the future challenges. The Directors prudently managed the
Group by set of best governance and practices and financial policies in
a way to keep focus on objectives set. Despite that the overall financial
performance of the Group for the fiscal year 2010 was affected after the
loss of a major service contract of a subsidiary, other business streams
managed to develop satisfactorily under the tough business environment.

Appreciation
I would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest thanks to my

directors, management and staff for their dedication and hard work, and
shareholders, financiers and business partners for their continual support.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 June 2010
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Management of the Group has continued to utilise our professional and
committed workforce and financial resources to achieve maximum return
to our shareholders.

Business Review
Marketing and Operation

During the year, our subsidiary, Quesco Systems Limited (“QSL"), lost
a substantive information technology staffing service renewal contract
with the Hong Kong Government, the bid loss resulted in considerable
fall in turnover and gross profit of the Company in this fiscal year, a
profit warning announcement was then made. Despite the impact,
the management committed their best effort to explore new business
opportunity, QSL was awarded by the Hospital Authority with a new
three-years contract for the provision of computer personnel services.
Besides, QSL successfully invited a number of new accounts to her client
list.

Our solution and professional services arm, ITE Smartcard Solutions Limited
("ITES"), was awarded with a number of new smartcard contracts by new
clients including four public hospitals in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong
Post. Enhancement work and purchase orders of smartcard products and
related service have remained fairly stable.

Our product arm, RF Tech Limited (“RFT”), partnered with the world
leading document management solution provider, Canon Hong Kong, to
develop a MacauPass card driven e-payment system for their photocopying
charging requirements, the product was successfully developed and
launched last month. The Directors are optimistic towards the market
potential of this integrated product solution which can provide fast and
convenience experiences to the Macao general public.

Innovation and Intellectual

During the year, ITES collaborated with the Automotive Parts and
Accessory Systems R&D Centre (“APAS”) for the development of an
electric vehicle fast charging station which would support Octopus
Card in Hong Kong, MacauPass Card in Macao and scalable to other
commercial use smartcards. The core technologies of charging station will
be developed by APAS, whilst the e-payment system will be developed
by ITES. This collaborative project was submitted to the Innovation
and Technology Commission of HKSAR Government for the approval
of government funding support. The approval result is expected to be
released shortly.

ITES, as the leading supplier of commercial e-payment solutions, is pleased
to match with strengths of APAS which has very strong R&D expertise in
high power electronics of charging station. The Directors are confident
that this collaboration will lead to a prospective, high business potential
market where ITES anticipates to become a key player. The collaboration
with APAS also demonstrates a role model of Hong Kong enterprise and
R&D institute leveraging each other to enter a new market industry chain
together.

~__Management Discussion‘and Analysis
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Future Prospect

ITE shall grow beyond the products and services we are now offering. We
will continue to invent, enhance and sell our solutions and services in the
region, to expand our revenue by building on our delivered platforms for
clients, on our expertise to develop new application products and services.
With the foundation and drive formed, and management continual focus
on innovation, technology and excellence, we look forward to a very
positive new stage of development in fiscal year 2011.

Financial Performance

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group recorded a total turnover
of approximately HK$55 million, representing a decrease of 29% over
last year. Profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2010 was approximately HK$0.2 million as
compared to approximately HK$1.3 million for last year.

Turnover Breakdown by Main Business Segments

RE
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Segmental Information

During the year, the Group recorded a decrease in turnover for about
29% when compared with last year. However, the Group’s gross profit
margin has improved from 19% in last year to 20% in current year.

Because of tough economic situation, many of our clients hold their IT
investments and delay their projects. This resulted in significant decrease in
its service revenue generated from core business, i.e. the provision of the
smartcard systems, RFID and information technology (“IT") services and
related sales, by 16% to approximately HK$10.6 million (2009: HK$12.6
million). However, with the accumulated projects completed in previous
years, the income from maintenance services increased sharply by 17% to
approximately HK$9.0 million (2009: HK$7.7 million).

For consultancy service segment, because of a major consultancy service
contract ended on 31 October 2009, the turnover decreased significantly
by 38% when compared with last year. The profit margin had also
dropped from 15% to 14%.

With our tighter cost control during the severe financial situation, the
Group's administrative expenses had decreased sharply by 18%.

With our continual working capital improvement, the finance costs
decreased significantly by 50% to approximately HK$0.4 million (2009:
HK$0.8 million) for the year.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Treasury
Policies

The Group generally financed its operations with its internally generated
cash flows and bank borrowings. As at 31 March 2010, the Group had
outstanding borrowings of HK$9,752,467, comprising secured bank loans
of HK$3,000,000 and bank overdrafts of HK$6,752,467. As at 31 March
2010, the current ratio of the Group was 1.82 (2009: 1.74) while the
liquidity ratio was 1.71 (2009: 1.63).

The Group continues to adopt a conservative approach towards its
treasury policy. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by
performing ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of its
customers. Besides, the Group’s liquidity and financing arrangements are
also reviewed regularly.

Taking into consideration the banking facilities granted, stringent cost
control and the existing financial resources available to the Group, it is
believed that the Group should have adequate financial resources to meet
its operation, development requirements and investments in the future.

cussion and Analysis
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Significant Investments
The Group had no significant investments during the year under review.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals of
Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies

During the year under review, the Group had no acquisitions and disposals
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Employment Information

The Group recognises that its staff is one of the Group’s most important
assets. Aiming at providing competitive salary packages, the Group
adjusts employees’ salary level in close association with the performance,
qualifications and experience of individual staff as well as labour market
conditions. In addition to the regular remuneration, discretionary bonus
and share options may be awarded to eligible employees with reference
to individual performance and the Group’s business performance.

The Group enjoys good relations with staff and has not experienced any
disruption of operations due to major labour disputes. In addition to
the remuneration as mentioned above, the Group also provides fringe
benefits which comply with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC
and Hong Kong including contributions to social security scheme of the
PRC and contribution to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme of Hong
Kong. Besides, the Group also provides on-going training programmes for
its employees to keep them abreast of the latest market trends and new
technologies.

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had 83 (2009: 214) full-time employees,
of which 72 are based in Hong Kong and the rest are in the PRC and
Macao. Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration, was approximately
HK$43 million (2009: HK$63 million) for the year ended 31 March 2010.
During the year, the Company has not granted any share option to any of
its Directors and employees.

Charges on Group Assets
As at 31 March 2010, time deposits of HK$17,623,709 (2009:

HK$14,487,961) was pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities
of the Group.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2009-2010 3§

BEARE
AEBPERILEHEAEARE -

EANRBEIHENBLRARKELTF

AEBRFRILE M E R R Kb E

£&® o
5

NI 4

EBEEH

AEERR BIRAKEREENEE - ARENE
BREERHEENFSHE  BEHFIMKTHIZMER
ITHITHERE  2E - KRARSBHISRAIEHFE -
BEAFEN  AEETEFGENETHTIERREEZ
EARENEBRAMNCERREENBIBEALEHE
P

m &

\

AEB-AHFRIFFEBNBERE RACEERZE
EBEFENERSEMY - R LAOFMEGEIN - AKE
NP EANBEEEBBEV ERREHAMERSR
Ao BREPEABOEEREFBEAREEREELE
DETEIMR o thSN - AEBETAES RS AR S
1 Bt 79 2 BE T 5 O S B B RE BT R o

REMR-_ZE—TF=-A=1+—RHEBES3IE (ZTTNF ¢
214%) 2HEE  HRhBRENEABTHREES - 4R AF
FERAEMES - BE_T—TF=-A=+—HLFE " &
RE=MSERNMEEBK AL A43,000,0008T (ZEZTA
% : 63,000,000/ 7T) © AN BIRF AL &R EMEERE
B AR AR

EERT
RZZE—ZF=-A=+—H  AE17,623,709%E L (=ZTZ

JUEF 114,487,961 70) MEMREFREERTETRT - F
RERTEENRITRE



Future Plans for Material Investments

The Group did not have any plans for material investment and acquisition
of material capital assets as at 31 March 2010.

Gearing Ratio

At 31 March 2010, the gearing ratio of the Group, which is calculated as
the ratio of total secured bank loans due after one year to shareholders’
funds, was nil (2009: nil).

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

The Group’'s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are mainly
denominated in HK$, United States dollars (“US$"), Macau Patacas
(“MOP") and Renminbi (“RMB"). The exchange rates between HK$, US$,
MOP and RMB have been very steady for the past few years. During the
year, the Group generally used the receipts from customers and bank
loans to pay its suppliers and meet its capital requirements. They are
denominated in the local currency of the place in which the subsidiaries
operate. The Group does not currently engage in hedging to manage
possible exchange rate risk as the Group considers the cost associated
with such hedging arrangements would exceed the benefits. However,
management will continue to monitor the possible exposure to exchange
rate risk and will take such measures as it deems prudent.

Contingent Liability
At 31 March 2010, the Company has issued corporate guarantees to

banks in respect of banking facilities granted to certain wholly owned
subsidiaries.
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The Company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasising transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility and
fairness. The Board ensures that effective self-requlatory practices exist to
protect the interests of the shareholders of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
"Code") contained in Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprises Market of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended
31 March 2010, save for the deviations discussed below.

Under the code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent is both the chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company who is responsible for managing the Board and
the Group’s business. Mr. Lau has been both chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company since its incorporation. The Board considers that,
with the present board structure and scope of business of the Group,
there is no imminent need to separate the roles into two individuals as
Mr. Lau is perfectly capable of distinguishing the priority of these roles
in which he has been acting. However, the Board will continue to review
the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance structure to assess
whether the separation of the positions of chairman and chief executive
officer is necessary.

Under the code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Under the
code provision A.4.2 stipulates that all Directors appointed to fill a causal
vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first general
meeting after their appointment, and every Director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years.

Under the present articles of association of the Company, Mr. Lau
Hon Kwong Vincent, being chairman and chief executive officer of
the Company, is not subject to retirement by rotation. This is not in
compliance with the Code requirement that every Director must retire by
rotation once every three years.
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Besides, the non-executive Directors do not have a specific term of
appointment, but are subject to rotation in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company (that at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not greater than one-third,
shall retire from office) provided that notwithstanding anything herein,
the chairman of the Board and/or the managing director of the Company
shall not, whilst holding such office, be subject to retirement by rotation
or be taken into account in determining the number of Directors to retire
in each year. As such, with the exception of the chairman, all Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation. The management considered that there
is no imminent need to amend the articles of association of the Company.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2010. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied with such code of
conduct and the required standard of dealings throughout the year ended
31 March 2010.

Board of Directors and Board Meeting

The Board which currently comprises four executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors, is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and business development of the Group. Details of
the Directors are set in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report. All Directors give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. To the best knowledge of the Board,
there is no financial, business and family relationship among the members
of the Board except that Mr. Liu Hoi Wah is the younger brother of Mr.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.

All independent non-executive Directors, do not have any business or
significant financial interests with the Group and each of them have
confirmed their independence to the Group pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Based on the above-mentioned, the Board considers
that all independent non-executive Directors were independent.

With the various experience of both the executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors and the nature of the Group’s
business, the Board considers that the Directors have a balance of skills
and experience for the business of the Group.
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The Board meets regularly at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. Such regular meetings will normally involve the active
participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of Directors entitled to be present.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, four board meetings were held
and the following is an attendance record of the meetings by each
Director.

Attendance
Executive Directors
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 4/4
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 4/4
Mr. George Roger Manho 3/4
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 3/4
Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 4/4
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry 4/4
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 4/4

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the Group, monitor financial performances and
discuss the annual, interim and quarterly results, as well as discuss and
decide on other significant matters. Execution of daily operational matters
is delegated to management.

Notice of regular board meeting is usually given at least 14 days in
advances to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. An agenda for
each board meeting will be prepared and normally distributed to the
Directors together with necessary board papers and related materials at
least four days before the board meeting. Directors are free to add any
items on the agenda as they may think fit. The Company Secretary is
responsible for recording the matters considered and decisions reached by
the Board including any concerns or dissenting views raised by Directors.
Minutes of board meetings and the board committees meetings will be
sent to all Directors for their comments and records as soon as after the
board meeting.

Minutes of board meetings and board committees meetings are kept by
the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for inspection within
reasonable advance notice.
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All Directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information or retain independent professional advisors if
necessary. They also have unrestricted access to the advice and service of
the Company Secretary, who is responsible for providing Directors with
board papers and related materials and ensuring that board procedures
are followed.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder
or Director arise, the matter is discussed in an actual meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. Independent non-executive
Directors with no conflict of interest are present at meetings dealing with
conflict issues. Board committees, including the Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees, all follow the applicable practices and procedures
used in board meetings for committee meetings.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
The Company did not segregate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. The role of the chief executive officer was performed by
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, who was the then existing chairman of the
Company during the year under review. Apart from the reason of such
deviation mentioned above, the Board also believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person provides
the Company with strong and consistent leadership, and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions
and strategies.

The Board will periodically review the merits and demerits of such
management structure and will adopt such appropriate measures as may
be necessary in the future taking into consideration of the nature and
extent of the Group’s operation.

Audit Committee

As required by Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has established an audit committee which comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Tang Siu, Henry and
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony. Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen was appointed as
chairman of the audit committee.
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The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the Company’s
annual report and accounts, half-yearly report and quarterly reports and to
provide advices and comments thereon to the Board. The audit committee
meets at least four times a year with management to review the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and to discuss
auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters. The principal
terms of reference includes, inter alia, its relationship with the Company’s
external auditor, review of the Company’s financial information and
oversight of the financial reporting system and internal control procedures
of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, four audit committee meetings
were held and the following is an attendance record of the meetings by
each Director.

Attendance
Name of Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 4/4
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry 4/4
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 4/4

The Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2010 have
been reviewed by the audit committee, who is of the opinion that such
statements comply with the applicable accounting standards, the GEM
Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures had
been made.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee on 1 August 2005
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code. The roles
and functions of the remuneration committee include the determination
of the specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management of the Company, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, such as any compensation payable for loss
or termination of their office or appointment, and make recommendations
to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive Directors. Members of
the remuneration committee include Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Tang Siu,
Henry, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent,
with Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen as chairman. A majority of the votes in the
remuneration committee are exercisable by independent non-executive
Directors. No Director will be involved in any discussion in connection with

his own remuneration.
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The remuneration committee schedules meet at least once a year. During
the year, one remuneration committee meeting was held to review the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and the directors’ fees of
the independent non-executive Directors and all members attended.

Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee on 8 December 2005
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code. Members of
the nomination committee include Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Tang Siu,
Henry, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent,
with Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen as chairman.

The nomination committee shall meet before the annual general meeting
of the Company, or at other times as required by the chairman of the
nomination committee.

The roles and functions of the nomination committee include the
appointment and removal of Directors, reviews the background,
experience, qualification, general market conditions and the Company’s
articles of association in selecting and recommending candidates for

directorship.

The nomination committee schedules meet at least once a year. One
nomination committee meeting was held during the year and all members
attended. During the meeting, members considered and resolved that
all the existing Directors shall be recommended to be retained by the
Company. Further, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi Wah will retire
from the Board in accordance with Article 108 of the Company’s articles
of association at the forthcoming annual general meeting, and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparation of the
financial statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements
are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the Group.

The statements of external auditors of the Company, Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 33 to 34 of this annual report.
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Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal controls
of the Company and for reviewing its effectiveness. In order to maintain
a sound and effective internal control for safeguarding the Company’s
assets and shareholders’ interests, the Board has adopted internal control
policy and procedures (the “Internal Control”) within the Company. The
Internal Control is designed to provide reasonable assurance against
misappropriate use of the Company’s assets and to manage the Group’s
operational system in an efficient manner.

The Internal Control mainly covers areas of finance, operations and
compliance. The Company shall conduct an annual review of the Internal
Control to assess its effectiveness and shall make recommendations to the
Board if any significant areas of concern are identified.

External Auditors

The audit committee is responsible for considering the appointment of
the external auditors and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by
the external auditors of the Group. In particular, the audit committee will
consider, in advance of them being contracted for such service, whether
such non-audit service could lead to any potential material conflict of
interest. Nothing has come to its attention to cause the audit committee
to believe that the non-audit services provided by the external auditors
affect their independence, objectivity and effectiveness in the audit
process in accordance with applicable standard.

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the fee payable to the auditors in
respect of audit services amounted to HK$325,000 while the fee payable
to the auditors in respect of non-audit services relating to the taxation
amounted to HK$32,700.

Communication with Shareholders

The Board is committed to maintaining an ongoing and transparent
communication with all shareholders. The Directors host annual general
meeting each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries.
The Company uses various communication channels, such as publication
of annual and quarterly reports, press announcements and circulars,
to update the shareholders on the Group’s business developments and
financial performance. Such information is also available on the Company’s
website: http:/Awww.hkite.com.
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Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, aged 46, is an Executive Director, Chief
Executive Officer and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible
for overall strategic planning and management of the Group. With
over 23 years of experience in the executive management, Mr. Lau was
engaged in China trade before founding the Group. He graduated from
The University of Hong Kong with a first class honours Degree of Bachelor
of Science in Mechanical Engineering.

Mr. George Roger Manho, aged 47, is an Executive Director and one
of the founders of the Group. Mr. Manho has 22 years of experience
in the control and automation industries, electrical and mechanical
projects and engineering management. He is a Chartered Engineer and a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Engineers, The Institute of Marine
Engineers and The Hong Kong Institute of Marine Technology and the
Institution of Fire Engineers. He holds a Master degree in Engineering
Studies in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Sydney and a
Bachelor of Science (Engineering) degree with first class honours in Marine
Engineering from the University of Newcastle Upon Tyne.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung, aged 47, is an Executive Director and one of
the founders of the Group. He is responsible for technical management
and research and development (R&D). With 26 years of experience in R&D
and production management, Mr. Cheng won the awards of the Hong
Kong Awards for Industry for seven times (two Machinery and Equipment
Design in 2005 and 2007, one Consumer Product Design in each of 1993,
2000 and 2001 and two Designs in 1997). He holds a Higher Diploma in
Electronics Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah, aged 41, is an Executive Director of the Group. He
is responsible for financial management, accounting and corporate
development. He joined the Group in March 2000. Mr. Liu graduated from
The London School of Economics and Political Science of the University
of London with a Bachelor of Science degree, first class honours in
Management Sciences. He is an associate member of each of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (“ICAEW") and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Mr. Liu is the
younger brother of Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, CBE, BS, FHKIE, JP, aged 70, holds an honorary
doctoral degree in engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and an honorary doctoral in laws from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He was formerly a member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council
from 1978 to 1997 and a senior member of the Hong Kong Legislative
Council from 1988 to 1991.
Kong Executive Council from 1985 to 1992. He was appointed as the

Dr. Lee was also a member of the Hong

Company’s independent non-executive director in December 2000.

Mr. Tang Siu, Henry, QFsM, CPM, aged 65, is currently a Registered
Chinese Medicine Practitioner (Full Subjects), a director of a private
company, the Principal Consultant of Hong Kong Fire Services Staff
General Association, the Life and First President of the Hong Kong
Professional Institute of Chinese Medicine Medicated Meal & Food, a
Consultant & life member of Hong Kong Registered Chinese Medicine
Practitioners Association, the Vice President of the Friends of Scouting
and a member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (East Asia Branch).
Mr. Tang was Chief Fire Officer Hong Kong Fire Command from 1993 to
2000. He holds a Master Degree of Science (Major in Urban Planning),
a Bachelor Degree of Law (Hons) and a Fellow of the Faculty of Law of
University of Wolverhampton the United Kingdom. He was appointed as

the Company’s independent non-executive director on 5 September 2005.

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, aged 44, is the Managing Director of
Anthony Kam & Associates Limited, Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Kam
holds a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of Wolverhampton,
the United Kingdom, and a Bachelor of Science degree from the
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Kam is a fellow member of the HKICPA and
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA"), an associate
member of the ICAEW and a member of the Hong Kong Securities
Institute. Mr. Kam has over 20 years experience in auditing, accounting
and tax matters, both in private and public companies. He was appointed
as the Company’s independent non-executive director on 30 September
2004.
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Biographical Details of‘Directors & Senior Management

Senior Management

Mr. But Wui Fai, Cyrus, aged 42, is an associated director (Project and
Sales) of the Group. Mr. But is responsible for management of project
commissioning of the Group. With 19 years of experience in IT and RFID
industry on project management, systems design and implementation. Mr.
But had achieved numerous project assignments in government sectors,
public utilities, tertiary institutions and public listed companies. He worked
for 10 years in an IT consultancy company in Hong Kong before joining
the Group in September 2001.

Miss. Yeung Yuen Chun, Mona, aged 36, is the Financial Controller and
associated director of the Group. Miss Yeung is responsible for managing
the Group’s finance and accounting operations, performing statutory
and management reporting. Miss. Yeung has over 13 years in auditing,
accounting and financial analysis. She is an associate member of the
ICAEW and a fellow member of the ACCA and the HKICPA. She holds a
Bachelor Degree of Business Administration (Honours) in Accounting from
the Hong Kong Baptist University.

Mr. Yuk Wai Kwok, Simon, aged 45, is a Consultant (Marketing and
Sales) of the Group. Mr. Yuk is responsible for business development, sales
and marketing of the Group. He is also in charge of the development
of business co-operation arrangement with vendor and partners in
Hong Kong, PRC, Macao and other overseas market. With 19 years
of experience in project management of IT industry, Mr. Yuk has been
involved in the sales and tendering process for several sizeable IT projects.
He was a project manager of a computer company for 10 years before
joining the Group in December 1999.

Mr. Lam Kwai Sum, aged 44, is the Senior Project Manager of the Group.
Mr. Lam is responsible for project management, implementation and
maintenance services. With 23 years’ depth knowledge and experience
in project engineering including 13 years in the design, coordination, site
supervision, testing and commissioning in building services and 10 years
of project design and management, tendering and supervision of electrical
installation systems. He joins the Group in August 2001 and has been
involved in several sizeable installation projects in Hong Kong and Macao
including government sectors, public sectors, campus and estates.
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ctors’ Report
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report together
with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2010.

Principal activities

The principal activity of ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is
investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “"Group”) during the financial year are set out in note 13 to the

financial statements.
Major customers and suppliers
The information in respect of the Group’s turnover and purchases

attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:

BEEEAMAREBE_F-FTF=-A=+—HLHFE

KEZVERE -
ITE (Holdings) Limited (A2 A]) B X B XK A EE

B A EARMEEEBFIEHNM B HREME6 -

ARBREMBEAR (A [ AKE]) RAPBRFENEE
EB R EEM AT H NPT HRRMZE3

FEREFRKERS

REAFRFER  AEBETERFEEEBREEEMN
HERBREABOT

Percentage of Group total

HEAEEAEESL
Turnover Purchases
=E 2 REBRE
The largest customer SRAEP 54% -
Five largest customers in aggregate hARE 485 76% -
The largest supplier A ER - 12%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AR ERE AR - 36%

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the company (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

Financial statements
The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010 and the state

of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 35 to 93.
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Transfer to reserves

Profits attributable to shareholders of HK$203,966 (2009: HK$1,314,847)
have been transferred to reserves. Other movements in reserves are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

No interim dividend was paid during the year (2009: HK$Nil). The
Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2010 (2009: HK$Nil).

There is no arrangement under which a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

Charitable donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$2,000 (2009: HK$9,000).

Fixed assets

Details of the movements during the year in the fixed assets of the Group
are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

Share capital

Details of the movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association and there was no restriction against such rights
under the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

Directors’ Report
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% 3 E (5% 1) 5203,9668 70 (ZEZLEF ¢ 1,314,8477%
TL) BEEREGHE HtHEEEIFBINGRAERE
%o

FRWESNPEES (ZZETNEFE: TEL) - EFEN
BRRREE_ZT-ZTE=-A=1+—HIEENRERE

ARRH BRI ERELRABREEARSNLYE -

BER:

2

REBNFRELEL2,0008T (ZZTZ/F : 9,000 7T)
MEEEB/ -
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Directors’ Report
EESWE

Directors
The Directors during the financial year were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung

Mr. George Roger Manho
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen

Mr. Tang Siu, Henry

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony

In accordance with Article 108 of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi Wah retire from the Board by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ service contracts

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi
Wah have entered into service contracts with the Company on 1 April
2010 for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 1 April 2010
which will continue thereafter until terminated by three months notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. George Roger Manho has entered into a service contract with
the Company on 1 January 2010 for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from 1 January 2010 which will continue thereafter until
terminated by three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other.

Except for the above, none of the Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is
not determinable by the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.
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Directors’ Report
EERWE

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and EZERIT E&wﬁf\f‘@ - HERS RES

short positions in shares, underlying shares and FTERNEZRXR
debentures

As at 31 March 2010, the interests and short positions of each Director RZZF-FF=ZA=+—0 ARRFEFRITBRHR
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and ~ #%a& 77 R EIERBIZ15.7 R B15 8IREMRTE - AR A HH
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within EUAKEE (&R (EHRPEHROD (TEHEH) 8
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the THH)  BEMNERRRRI SR - *E%%@&%
“SFO")), which were notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange 7 T8 M XA ( %*ETF HR 1GR9 3% 5 43 E 1R
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 REGIERENEDIAR) //\5”7\@% BB
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including any interests and short positions 352{'7%%1'\*7?39’7%%%79 ’ EJZ*ETFE”%*&JT“*EE'J%5 46
which they have taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions = 56815 P&l &Y AR Al 24 8 K1 & AN A 7] % 52 5 P 0 1 2t 3

of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, BEIILAT

to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,

pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the Rules Governing the Listing of

Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the

“GEM Listing Rules”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange were as follows:

() Interests in shares of the Company (i) AATERMER

Number of ordinary shares

ZERREY
Percentage of
Personal Corporate Family Other issued shares
Name of Director interests interests interests interests Total HBRT
g B AR 2R rEER RikRER HitEz ast RGBS
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent - 456,250,348 (L) - - 456,250,348 (L) 50.51%
BEREE (Note 2) (Fff5£2)
Mr. George Roger Manho 73,142,254 (1) - - - 73,142,254 (1) 8.10%
BERE S -
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung - 456,250,348 (L) - - 456,250,348 (L) 50.51%
BRI (Note 2) (Fi#E2)
Notes: BT
1. The letter “L" denotes a long position in the shares. 1. [LI FRABRODBITE °
2. These shares are beneficially owned by Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited 2. ERNMDIBH - RREBEZHESK AR A
(“Rax-Comm”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited ([ Rax-Comm]) 55 °
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent and Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung held 210% ¢ % A& T B B 4 5E A 9 Bl FF ARax-Comm
40.37% and 31.48% of the entire issued share capital of Rax-Comm, 40.37% 531.48% 8 321 THLD
respectively.
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Directors’ Report
EESWE

Directors’ and chief executive’'s interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures (continued)

(ii)  Interests in equity derivatives, as defined in the SFO,
in or in respect of, underlying shares

As at 31 March 2010, the Directors had the following personal
interests in options to subscribe for shares of the Company
granted at HK$1 under a share option scheme of the Company.
Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one share.

Number
of options
outstanding
at 31 March 2010

EERTHARIRES - HEROKES
FrEENERIXRE (B)

(i) RNAFBERZFHERDITETANER (E
& REHIRM)

RZZB-—ZF=RF=1+—H ARAEFEREX
NRERE B THERRE LT REALQE

RO BEETHEE AT EARED - SREBARE
RS A ARE IR -

Number of Price per share
shares acquired on  to be paid on
exercise of options exercise of

R-E-ZF Period during during the year options
ZA=t-H which options FRTEBRE TEERE
Name of Director e RATHER Date granted exercisable MR AW
Exps BREZE Rt A BRETES RAEE BRERK
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 6,109,440 (L) 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to - HK$0.095
Elep it —FT-%-A+=H 11 February 2011 0.095%7T
SV Py = Y
=
Mr. George Roger Manho 4,000,000 (L) 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to - HK$0.095
BERExE —EE-FZA+=A 11 February 2011 0.095% 7T
“EE-F\AZ+—HZ
—2——%-A+-H
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 4,000,000 (L) 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to - HK$0.095
BB e S R = 11 February 2011 0.095/7C
“TT-F\AZ+—HZ
“EF—#-At-A
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 19,112,640 (L) 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to - HK$0.095
AeELE —TT-F-A+=H 11 February 2011 0.095/87T
—ZE-FN\AZ+-RHE
—E—%_A+-H
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 1,760,000 (L) 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to - HK$0.095
FEREL S s i = 11 February 2011 0.095/87T

Note:  The letter “L"” denotes a long position in the shares.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and EZER{ITERAHRNKG - HEARORES

Directors’ Report
ERERE

xE (&)

short positions in shares, underlying shares and FI#ERKERRKXR

debentures (continued)

(iii)  Aggregate interest in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company

(iii)y  ARTRM REER G ORTEDS

Aggregate Aggregate Percentage of
number in number in total
ordinary underlying issued shares
Name of Director shares shares Total HEBITRA
EEpnE ZERAT HER G &t BoL
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 456,250,348 (L) 6,109,440 (L) 462,359,788 (L) 51.18%
BB E
Mr. George Roger Manho 73,142,254 (L) 4,000,000 (L) 77,142,254 (L) 8.54%
EEMEE
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 456,250,348 (L) 4,000,000 (L) 460,250,348 (L) 50.95%
BRER A S A
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah - 19,112,640 (L) 19,112,640 (L) 2.12%
2gELE
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen - 1,760,000 (L) 1,760,000 (L) 0.19%

FHEREL

Note:  The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, none of the Directors,
chief executive of the company or their associates had any interests
in the shares or debentures of, or short positions in the shares of, the
Company or any of its associated corporations, within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO, which would have to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO,
including interests or short positions which they have taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO, or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the
GEM Listing Rules, were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

GEX

% PR HeEESN

[LI FRTBHREFRE -
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Directors’ Report
EEGRE

Directors’ and chief executive’s rights to acquire
shares or debt securities

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares
and debentures”, as at 31 March 2010, neither the Company, holding
company nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors and chief executive of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities,
including debentures, of the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company or their
spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for
the securities of the Company, or had exercised any such rights.

Interests and short positions of shareholders in
the shares and underlying shares

As at 31 March 2010, the following persons, other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company, had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known
to any Director or chief executive of the Company:

EERTRARBEROIERIESNE
A

BOA it TE S RITRAENRD - HERO RESAES
RN R ] IRES R E-TF=A=+—H &
NA - ERAFSRETARBARBESBERNZY - &
ARBAEZRTRAHAIEZBALRBSERMEMEA
BEMRORETES (BEES) MESHZE  MARF
BEERTRARIEENRBIER Am T NN F LB
BEMA BB AR AESHERN - TMEITE TSR -

ERAGROI TRRARBENEER AR

3

RoE-—FTF=A=+—B REBHEHE336HETAEAT
BENELMAES A ERNARBEERTHREE A
THAL (RRABEERITHRAZKRIN) RAEAQ BN K
HER O A S MOA R

Number of Percentage
ordinary of total
shares held issued shares
Name of shareholder FgER HEBITRDN
R A RHEE Bk
Rax-Comm 456,250,348 50.51%
Note:  These shares have been disclosed as the corporate interests of the relevant MiEE s ZHERMHER [EERITBABNRY - ARG RES
Directors in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and FrEAmEE AR | —HRBERAFHERNOEES
short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures”.
Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of any other B F XX BN R-E—TEFE=A=+—H BELE

person, other than Directors or the chief executive of the company, who
had an interest or a short position in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and so far is known to any
Director or chief executive of the Company as at 31 March 2010.

Share option schemes

Details of the Company’s share option schemes are set out in note 26 to
the financial statements.
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Purchase, sale and redemption of shares of the
Company

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Company purchased
2,252,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company
at prices ranging from HK$0.059 to HK$0.125 per share on the Stock
Exchange.

Directors’ Report
EERWE

BE - HEREEARQTRE

WP PR B AR RN S FTAEAR0.0595 T &
0.1255% 7T {8 15 8 A.2,252,0008% & 2 7 5 18 B {50.015% 7T
B2 AR -

Price paid per share

BRIME®K
Number of Aggregate
Month/year Shares repurchased prices paid Highest Lowest
F/A mEROEE XA BS BIE
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
September 2009
ZZTNFNA 1,524,000 95,194 0.065 0.060
October 2009
ZEZNFTA 24,000 1,548 0.059 0.059
December 2009
ZEZNF+ZA 704,000 77,932 0.125 0.098
2,252,000 174,674

The repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly, the issued share
capital of the company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares.
The premium paid on repurchase was charged against the share premium
account of the Company. The Directors considered that, as the Company’s
shares were trading at a discount to the net asset value per share, the
repurchases would increase the net asset value per share of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the
above-mentioned period.

Directors’ interests in contracts

No contract of significance to which the Company, its holding company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director of the
Company had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

Management contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or in existence during the year.

Connected transactions
There were no transactions which should be disclosed in the annual report

as connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules.

ZELBRONBERECHKEIHE  MARRSHTERAT
PEZ RO MEE T - S BB #0% E R AR FR
iR ERE AR -  EERB/ARFBRNXZLULEERE
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E%E -
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SEFHENALT  HERATDXHKTAMNBL DL R
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Five year summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 94 of the annual report.

Emolument policy

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group's operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted share option schemes as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees, details of the schemes are set out in
note 26 to the financial statements.

Sufficiency of public float

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 31 March 2010.

Confirmation of independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

Auditors

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited retire and, being eligible offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Baker Tilly
Hong Kong Limited as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The Company has not changed its
auditors in the past three years.

By order of the Board

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 June 2010

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Independ
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-

BAKER TILLY

HONG KONG LIMITED

B RGBT A PR A
12/E, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

HWTFE P 168-2005
fGfEd MR KE2#E

To the shareholders of
ITE (Holdings) Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ITE (Holdings)
Limited (the “company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “group”) set out on pages 35 to 93, which comprise the consolidated
and company balance sheets as at 31 March 2010, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

Directors’
statements

responsibility for the financial

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and the
true and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

ent Auditor’s Report

#%ITE (Holdings) Limited& s
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZ AR

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the company and of the group as at 31
March 2010 and of the group’s profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 18 June 2010

Lo Wing See

Practising certificate number P04607
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
ARE D EINER

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZEZ=F

—ZE=RA=+—RLLFE UBTIE)

Note 2010 =2 —2F 2009 —ZZNEF

B3 HK$#E T HK$ETT

Turnover =E 20 4,13 54,935,393 77,488,677
Cost of services rendered BRI A (43,037,952) (60,766,208)
Cost of sales EEBWHIAR (875,529) (1,909,438)
Gross profit EF 11,021,912 14,813,031
Other income EmUA 5 111,636 337,630
Administrative expenses 1THEHR (10,489,821) (12,851,143)
Profit from operations KRR 643,727 2,299,518
Finance costs B E A 6(a) (397,161) (799,671)
Profit before taxation BR % A a A 6 246,566 1,499,847
Income tax FriSH: 7(a) (42,600) (185,000)
Profit for the year attributable to AR RRRFREMLER

shareholders of the company 10 203,966 1,314,847
Other comprehensive FRHEMEE KRGS

income for the year 11
Fair value changes in A ESREEDN

available-for-sale financial assets NEBEE - (94,200)
Total comprehensive income FAHMEEKRRARE

for the year 203,966 1,220,647
Earnings per share BREF 12
Basic (HK cents) R (BAL) 0.02 0.15
Diluted (HK cents) #g (B) 0.02 N/A i

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.
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Co nsolidated Balance Sheet

e BE

BE3x

At 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong doIIars) RZT—ZTF=A=1+—8 (LAAETsE)

Note 2010 == —TF 2009 — TN F
BfaE HK$#E T HK$# 7T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Fixed assets EEEE 14 175,823 372,042
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 17 1,599,577 1,699,877
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 K HoAtb EULIR 5k 18 4,930,378 9,335,196
Income tax recoverable EEEiREy 20 73,168 -
Pledged bank deposits BHERRITIFRK 21 17,623,709 14,487,961
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTHEER 21 1,532,500 1,314,366
25,759,332 26,837,400
Current liabilities REBAR
Trade and other payables BN E 5 KR HE A EIRTK 22 4,113,380 10,748,386
Provisions B 23 291,219 1,934,883
Short-term borrowings HHIEE 24 9,752,467 2,685,381
Income tax payable FEETISHE 20 = 91,995
14,157,066 15,460,645
Net current assets REEERE 11,602,266 11,376,755
Net assets EERE 11,778,089 11,748,797
Capital and reserves EARR B 27
Share capital R A 9,033,160 9,055,680
Reserves G 2,744,929 2,693,117
Total equity HRER 11,778,089 11,748,797
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 18 June EEZER_T—TFXA +/\ BZERERETE
2010.
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Cheng Kwok Hung 2% BB i
Director Director o o

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Co a\y Balance Sheet

m
N BEBEX

At 31 March 2010 ( Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R=ZT—ZF=A=+—8 (LABsE)

Note 2010 —=—TF 2009 — T HF

BfaE HK$#E T HK$# 7T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries MEBARIRE 16 4,000,000 4,000,000
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUTHI B A IR K 16 3,659,994 3,847,037
Prepayments FEE R 18 170,550 165,035
Cash and bank balances R4 RIRITES 21 79,814 37,769

3,910,358 4,049,841

Current liabilities b=k
Accrued charges and other payables EETE B K E AR IRFR 22 548,078 604,733
Net current assets REBEERE 3,362,280 3,445,108
Net assets BEFE 7,362,280 7,445,108
Capital and reserves BEAXR#E 27
Share capital & 7 9,033,160 9,055,680
Reserves s (1,670,880) (1,610,572)
Total equity AR 7,362,280 7,445,108

T,%
4,
*IH

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 18 June #=g& TERN A+ N\ Bk RT3

2010.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Cheng Kwok Hung 2%k - 19Epr:S
Director Director E 5%

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial &M EERAERC LS B R — &0 -
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Chan

—|I— N/
/ N /|\|:|/|\
,\\/T\ %ﬁ %%

For the year ended 31 I\/Iarch 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=%F

—ZEE=ZA=+—RLLEFE (UETIIE)

ges In Equity

Reserves
e
Investment
Share Share Merger ~ Exchange revaluation Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
HEER REfE
BEx  RGRE  AHRG s ffa RithR ait
HK$ 7T HK$ BT HK$ BT HKS$ BT HKS AT HK$ AT HKS AT
Balance at 1 April 2008 RZEE\EEA-REH 9,075,360 22,816,249 10,748,910 431,880 94200  (32,524,704) 10,641,895
Total comprehensive income ENRENHEE
for the year - - - - (94,200) 1,314,847 1,220,647
Repurchase of shares BEERA (19,680) (94,065) = = = = (113,745)
Balance at 31 March 2009 RZZEENE=A=1—H
and 1 April 2009 LRZETNERA—B&H 9,055,680 22,722,184 10,748,910 431,880 - (31,209,857) 11,748,797
Total comprehensive income FREANEER
for the year - - - - - 203,966 203,966
Repurchase of shares (note 27(a)(i)) ~ EIEMRL (MF27() i) (22,5200 (152,154) - - - - (174,674)
Balance at 31 March 2010 WZE-SE=A=+—-H&kH 9,033,160 22,570,030 10,748,910 431,880 - (31,005891) 11,778,089

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.
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C nsolidated Cash Flow Statement
/\\/ N~ EE N /ﬁ:iﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZE=

T—TFE=[=+—ALFE (ABTIE)

Note 2010 == —FF 2009 —EZTNF
{iEzs HK$# T HK$ETT
Cash flows from operating activities REXBRESRE
Profit before taxation R % AT A 246,566 1,499,847
Adjustments for: TS IEIEH A
— Gain on disposal of financial assets — BERAFEETA
at fair value through profit or loss BamemEEN K 5 (3,026) -
— Gain on disposal of available-for-sale —HEHEE
financial assets SREEMNWR 5 = (20,880)
— Investment income from — HEHESREED
available-for-sale financial assets & &E Wz 5 - (35,646)
— Interest income — FBHA 5 (38,963) (221,307)
— Interest expenses — A B 6(a) 397,161 799,671
— Depreciation — e 6(c) 227,418 399,206
— Loss on disposal of fixed assets —HEBEEEEE 6(c) 183 2,348
— Write-down of inventories —FEHE 6(c) 102,849 227,859
Operating profit before changes REBESEBAN
in working capital R 932,188 2,651,098
Increase in inventories FEEM (2,549) (228,768)
Decrease in trade and other receivables R E 5 K H Ath R SR ZR0R > 4,404,818 2,569,715
(Decrease)/increase in trade ﬂgﬁfé%&ﬁm
and other payables FERIIRER CRid>), /30 (6,635,006) 42,333
(Decrease)/increase in provisions B G )/i*j][l (1,643,664) 335,468
Cash (used in)/generated from #5% (FTH) EB£HE
operations (2,944,213) 5,369,846
Interest paid 2AFLE (397,161) (799,671)
Tax refund REIFEEK - 179,937
Tax paid [SENESES (207,763) (176,963)
Net cash (used in)/generated from LEZR (FrA) B4E
operating activities RE&FEE (3,549,137) 4,573,149

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
/\\T\ Eﬁi/ﬂbi%

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLFE CUETIIE)

Note 2010 —=—=F 2009 —EZ N F
hEzs HKS$# T HKS$7# T

Cash flows from investing activities REZBHRERE
Purchase of fixed assets HBEERTEE (31,382) (113,954)
Purchase of financial assets BEIRATEEA

at fair value through profit or loss Bt mEE (18,150) -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets ~ HEZ AT EETA

at fair value through profit or loss BEnemEENMERIE 21,176 -
Proceeds from disposal of HEMHLE

available-for-sale financial assets DRIEERFTEIE = 1,580,280
Investment income from AEHESREENIRERA

available-for-sale financial assets - 35,646
Interest received B2 FIE 38,963 221,307
Net cash generated from RETHELREFE

investing activities 10,607 1,723,279
Cash flows from financing activities REIBHRERE
Repurchase of shares AR (174,674) (113,745)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank deposits EIE#ERI TR (3E0), S5 (3,135,748) 2,285,261
Increase/(decrease) in bank loans, net SRITIE RN, CRd) FE 600,616 (4,056,353)
Net cash used in financing activities METE AR SEE (2,709,806) (1,884,837)
Net (decrease)/increase fiﬁ&ﬁﬁ%f‘%ﬁﬁ

in cash and cash equivalents W), #&hn (6,248,336) 4,411,591
Cash and cash equivalents ROA—BHES

at 1 April RELZEEY 1,028,369 (3,383,222)
Cash and cash equivalents R=ZA=+—HHHEE

at 31 March EBREEEY 21 (5,219,967) 1,028,369

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HZE—T—TF=A=+—HALFE ABTIE)

General information

ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address
of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of
the principal place of business of its operating subsidiaries is Units
1005-07, Level 10, Manulife Provident Funds Place, 345 Nathan
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The company’s shares are listed on
the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries (together with the company collectively
referred to as the “group”) are set out in note 16 to the financial
statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the company, as at 31 March
2010, Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), is its immediate and ultimate holding
company. This entity does not produce financial statements
available for public use.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$"), except where indicated otherwise, which is also the
functional currency of the company.

Significant accounting policies
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”). A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the group is set out below.
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ITE (Holdings) Limited (AR A]]) AR SRS M
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 Rk B

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a) Statement of compliance (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the group and the company. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these financial statements.

(b)  Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2010 comprise the company and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except as otherwise stated in
the accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and
estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next
year are discussed in note 32.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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BE_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLFE CUETIIE)

ERETEHE (H)
(@) &REH (H)

B GRS D BME TR REEFTNEEY
BREED - IRNAEERARBNAA SR
BRERH A IR R - ME3RHEEEERE
REBERMSIBNSHRRESHNER - HRR
NBRBARE BB TR AR R A& 5 HI R A
A gt BREE

(b) HREER

BE-T—
RREAR

-z
=%

TE=A=+-HLFENRSHBER
B R EKBARMIRE ©

BRAT &R BORFIBRSN - AR B 75 33k 35 LA S2 AR AR
RAmBLELE -

PrmBt e BB M B mEEANNMBERE - BRE
EERAZERREANEE  BF  WARRX
R 2 MEBBIEHHE - At RERR - ARG RE
MR VIRBBELR  URZEERER TEE
BEEMEMEARMIEL - A BARBREREE
HAth BB HORBUR 0 B E K & B R IRTE ) HET R
Ei - BIRERAEEBRAMGS AT -

ARREFEFEREBABRRETH o HE
SR AN EREREZYRE - MBRYEERE
B E R WER - HE AR EAHER
RIRHAR - BIA B R 2 E DU ) e oK 2R A ) 1% T

27
o ©

Pt EE 325 B IR B AR R R B S s S R B PR D
HE AT EAMBRROEATZE - REFERT
FEELHERARNERER



Notes to the Financial Statements

P e e

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. Control exists
when the group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its
activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are
presently exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences
until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and
transactions and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains

but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

In the company’s balance sheet, an investment in a subsidiary is
stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(f)(ii)).

(d) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair
value plus transaction costs. At each balance sheet date the
fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being
recognised directly in equity. Investment income from these
financial assets is recognised in profit or loss. When these financial
assets are derecognised or impaired, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or
loss.

(e) Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of fixed assets are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 Rk B

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE LETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e) Fixed assets (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of fixed
assets, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the

straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

— Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms

and 4 years
— Furniture and fixtures 4 years
— Computer and other 4 years

equipment

The useful life of an asset, its depreciation method and residual

value, if any, are reviewed annually.
(f) Impairment of assets
(i) Impairment of trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable.

If any event or change in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable, an impairment loss is determined
and recognised as follows:

- For trade and other receivables and other financial assets
carried at cost or amortised cost, the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition of these assets), where the effect of
discounting is material. This assessment is made collectively
where financial assets carried at amortised cost share
similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due status,
and have not been individually assessed as impaired.
Future cash flows for financial assets which are assessed
for impairment collectively are based on historical loss
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar
to the collective group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 B

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

=
=]

2  Significant accounting policies (continued) 2  EFEEFHBX (&)

(f) Impairment of assets (continued) () EERE (8)

(i) Impairment of trade and other receivables (continued) (i) JEUE 5 K E A R UIR SR AR E (48)
If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment R E R DR E R R SRR A - Mz
loss decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively A REM R EE IR EERRELENENR
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was B ARERESERIERER - BERRE
recognised, the impairment loss is reversed through profit EFEETEENEEREEBRRBEFEL
or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in ERRBESEREEEN S -

the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding REBRERARNEETEENE BRIER
assets directly, except for impairment losses recognised in respect WE 5 KEERKT - AT B 144547 2 AT 5 3L FE 6K
of trade debtors and bills receivable included within trade and THMA EWE 5 &k EHRIR K E R E 518 Rl
other receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not Sh - REAB B IR DB RIBIR MR E 18 © M8 K&
remote. In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are B R e U O FE AR IR SR B B AT B - RIR AT
recorded using an allowance account. When the group is satisfied A ESEEEERE SR ERRKBEEREE
that recovery is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is MERERTFEBBZEFNEM S8 HE
written off against trade debtors and bills receivable directly and B o &2 Blat A ER IR E U E - BIE R &
any amounts held in the allowance account relating to that debt BB WL - BERNEMED R 2/ B EMHE
are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged i B A& W B B FRIE - 9B HER o

to the allowance account are reversed against the allowance
account. Other changes in the allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off directly are recognised
in profit or loss.

(i) Impairment of other assets (ii) Hih & ERE

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each ABMIINRNEERRSEST —BEEEBEMN
balance sheet date to identify indications that the following assets IATEE TOIEE (BEREERIN) R HBRRED
may be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment R R AEBROREEETNERFEND LR
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased: A

= fixed assets - EE&E

- investments in subsidiaries; and — RETBRRIMEE : &

- goodwill — Bk
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B %5 Rk B

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE LETIIE)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f) Impairment of assets (continued)
(ii) Impairment of other assets (continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the recoverable amount
is estimated annually whether or not there is any indication of
impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs to
sell, or value in use, if determinable.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 B

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f) Impairment of assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (continued)

- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.

(9) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable

value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down
of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down
of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the

reversal occurs.
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B %5 Rk B

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(h)  Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortised cost less allowance for impairment
of doubtful debts (see note 2(f)(i)), except where the receivables
are interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed
repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial.
In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts.

(i) Service contracts

When the outcome of a service contract can be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract at the balance sheet date.
When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately. When the outcome of a service contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred.

Service contracts in progress at the balance sheet date are
recorded in the balance sheet at the net amount of costs incurred
plus recognised profits less recognised losses and progress billings,
and are presented in the balance sheet as the “Gross amount
due from customers for service contract work” (as an asset) or
the “Gross amount due to customers for service contract work”
(as a liability), as applicable. Progress billings not yet paid by the
customers are included in the balance sheet under “Trade and
other receivables”. Amounts received before the related work is
performed are included in the balance sheet under “Trade and
other payables”.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

P e e

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HE-Z—Z&=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
() Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement.

(k) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance
with note 2(n)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with
any difference between the amount initially recognised and
redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over the period
of the borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,
using the effective interest method.

(m) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or equity respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.
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B %5 Rk B

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the
same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that, in the case of taxable differences, the group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

P e e

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Income tax (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
company or the group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities.

(n) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

(i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(n)  Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (continued)

(i) Financial guarantees issued (continued)

Where the group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the
guarantee (being the transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially recognised as deferred
income within trade and other payables. Where consideration
is received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in
profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.

(i) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the group or the company has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(o) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance
sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss, except those arising from foreign currency borrowings
used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation which are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(o) Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at
the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Balance sheet items,
including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign operations
acquired on or after 1 January 2005, are translated into HK$ at
the closing foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet
date. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity
in the exchange reserve. Goodwill arising on consolidation of a
foreign operation acquired before 1 January 2005 is translated at
the foreign exchange rate that applied at the date of acquisition
of the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on
disposal is recognised.

(p) Revenue recognition

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured
reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

0) Service revenue

Service revenue comprises revenue from smartcard systems, radio

frequency identification (“RFID”), information technology (“IT")
and related service contracts.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(p) Revenue recognition (continued)
(i) Service revenue (continued)

Revenue from a fixed price service contract is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the
percentage of contract costs incurred to date to estimated total
contract costs for the contract. When the outcome of a service
contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable.

(ii) Consultancy income

Consultancy income is recognised when the consultancy services
are rendered.

(iii) Income from maintenance services

Income from maintenance services is recognised on a straight-line

basis over the term of the maintenance service contracts.

Income received or receivable in respect of services which have not
been completed on or before the balance sheet date are shown in
the balance sheet as deferred maintenance income.

(iv) Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time when
the customer has accepted the goods and the related risks and
rewards of ownership. Revenue excludes value-added tax or other
sales taxes, if any, and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

(v) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

P e e

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(p) Revenue recognition (continued)
(vi) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the balance sheet initially
when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received
and that the group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the group for expenses incurred
are recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a systematic basis in
the same periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that
compensate the group for the cost of an asset are deducted in
arriving at the carrying amount of the asset and consequently are
recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset.

(@ Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined

contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the
group demonstrably commits itself to terminate employment or
to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having
a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of

withdrawal.
(r) Research and development costs

Expenditure on research and development activities is expensed in
profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(s) Operating lease charges

Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the group are classified as operating leases.

Where the group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit
or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or
loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are earned.

(t) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss in the year in which
they are incurred.

(u)  Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is
considered to be related to the group if:

(i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one
or more intermediaries, to control the group or exercise
significant influence over the group in making financial
and operating policy decisions, or has joint control over
the group;

(i) the group and the party are subject to common control;

(iii) the party is an associate of the group or a joint venture in
which the group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of key management personnel of
the group or the group’s parent, or a close family member
of such an individual, or is an entity under the control,
joint control or significant influence of such individuals;
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 B

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE ABETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(u) Related parties (continued)

(v) the party is a close family member of a party referred
to in (i) or is an entity under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals; or

(vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for
the benefit of employees of the group or of any entity that
is a related party of the group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
individual in their dealings with the entity.

(v)  Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3  Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued one new HKFRS, a number of amendments
to HKFRSs and new Interpretations that are first effective for
the current accounting period of the group. Of these, the
following developments are relevant to the consolidated financial

statements:

BE_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLFE CVETIIE)

3 EiBRXRE25H

BREASEVBEIHRREM

BEEFMARCHEL BB EM B RS E
A BETHEMBREEMMETANEE  ERA
S HEERERRAEERARA - £ - LT

Improvements to HKFRSs (2008)

HKAS 1 (revised 2007), Presentation of financial statements

HKAS 23 (revised 2007), Borrowing costs

HKFRS 8, Operating segments

Amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures — improving disclosures about financial
instruments

The adoption of HKAS 23 (revised 2007) has had no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements. The impact of the
remainder of these developments is as follows:

The “Improvements to HKFRSs (2008)"” comprise a number
of minor and non-urgent amendments to a range of
HKFRSs which the HKICPA has issued as an omnibus batch
of amendments. There have been no significant changes
to the group’s accounting policies as a result of these
amendments.

As a result of the adoption of HKAS 1 (revised 2007),
details of changes in equity during the period arising from
transactions with equity shareholders in their capacity as
such have been presented separately from all other income
and expenses in a revised consolidated statement of
changes in equity. All other items of income and expense
are presented in the consolidated income statement, if
they are recognised as part of profit or loss for the period,
or otherwise in a new primary statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. Corresponding
amounts have been restated to conform to the new
presentation. This change in presentation has no effect on
reported profit or loss, total income and expense or net
assets for any period presented.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 B

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—Z&F=A=+—HILFE AETIIE)

Changes in accounting policies (continued) 3  E&TEBER25 (&)

- HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that has not resulted in a = BEVMBHMEERFR HIRERER - &
redesignation of the group’s reportable segments (see note REB 255 W RE EHEM (BT
13), nor changes in the basis of measurement of segment 13)  MHEEE DBEEADSBEED
profit or loss, segment assets and segment liabilities. FTEERIVIRE

- The amendments to HKFRS 7 expand the disclosures = ERGHRELERE7HRHET HEHR AR
required in relation to fair value measurements in respect TEEFENSHIABABREEREAA
of financial instruments which are measured at fair value. FEENAE  BEFEMBEREEMNETHR
However, the amendments to HKFRS 7 do not contain any S ST R ARG A B IR = I )8 A e EZEIN
additional disclosure requirements specifically applicable to WEENK -

the consolidated financial statements.

Turnover 4 EXHE
The principal activities of the group are the provision of smartcard REEREEXBRIREE L REF RABERS -
systems and related services, manufacture, research and sales of - R RIS RIS E m RIREE AR
service related products and provision of IT consultancy services. IR ©
Turnover represents the sales value of goods supplied to customers EEEEELNER TEFOHEEERREHRBE AU
and revenue from services rendered. The amount of each o FAMRREEFNTESRWRNAT ¢
significant category of revenue recognised in turnover during the
year is as follows:
2010 —ZE—FF 2009 —EZTNF
HKS$# T HKS$# 7T
Provision of smartcard systems, RFID and 2R E % - g758:% 5
IT services REMBHE R
— Service revenue — BR7EUE 9,019,723 9,520,123
— Income from maintenance services — (RERBEUWA 9,019,586 7,686,201
— Sales of service related products — HERBIEHEE D 1,550,681 3,040,183
19,589,990 20,246,507
Consultancy income BRI RIS WA 35,345,403 57,242,170
54,935,393 77,488,677
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B %5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLFE CVETIIE)

Other income 5 Hig A
2010 —Z—TF 2009 —=ZNF
HK$#% 7T HK$%E 7T
Interest income F U 38,963 221,307
Exchange gain b 5 s 1,261 -
Gain on disposal of financial assets HERATFEBETA
at fair value through profit or loss BEad & E s 3,026 -
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HERHEE
financial assets (note 11) SREERE (FFE11) - 20,880
Investment income from available-for-sale  A[ft & & @& ZEH)
financial assets BEUWA - 35,646
Compensation for secondment of staff B THRMFHE - 44,813
Government grant BB - 13,984
Sundry income H AU A 68,386 1,000
111,636 337,630
Profit before taxation 6  BRBIANGEF

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

B 5 g A 2 HIRR

2010 —E—E & 2009 =T hF
HKS$E T HK$# 7T
(@)  Finance costs: (@) RAERKA :
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts RITEERBELFE 397,161 728,015
Interest on other borrowings A fEERNE - 71,656
397,161 799,671
(b)  Staff costs (b) BIKA
(including directors’ remuneration)*: (BEESRM) " :
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENAEMBT 41,385,907 60,352,839
Retirement scheme contributions (note 25) BRIRETEIEER (FIRE25) 1,471,068 2,158,016
42,856,975 62,510,855
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B %5 B

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—Z&F=A=+—HILFE AETIIE)

6  Profit before taxation (continued) 6 BRELADEF (48)
2010 —=—TF 2009 —=TNF
HK$E T HKS$# T
(¢  Other items: (0 EMEA :

Auditor's remuneration ZEE & 325,000 325,000
Cost of inventories# FE R A 5,519,278 5,311,221
Depreciation e 227,418 399,206
Development costs TFEER AR 957,098 1,409,669
Exchange loss HE 5 &8 - 15,856
Loss on disposal of fixed assets HERBRTEERSE 183 2,348
Operating lease charges: KERES W

minimum lease payments EHEFIE

— hire of properties — W EFRE 1,835,958 1,937,300

— hire of office equipment — NAEIREEE 32,880 29,103
Write-down of inventories FEWE 102,849 227,859

##

Staff costs included HK$880,070 (2009: HK$1,121,084) relating to
development costs, which amount is also disclosed separately in note

6(c).

Cost of inventories included HK$102,849 (2009: HK$227,859) relating
to write-down of inventories, which amount is also disclosed separately

in note 6(c).

8 T f 7 B $5880,070i8 7T (= B B N 4 -
1,121,084 7C) M EKA - WEREKRAEE
B sE6() B H T -

FEKRA B EI02,8498 T (Z T T h F:
227,859 ) FEHE - WEFEIBEEM
6(c) B H -

7 Income tax in the consolidated statement 7 meEWERNAMEBH
of comprehensive income
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of comprehensive (a) REREmKRPTRIAR
income represents:
2010 —=—FF 2009 — TR F
HK$# T HK$A 7T
Hong Kong profits tax BBFTEH
— Provision for the year — FREAE 62,698 210,120
— Over-provision in respect of prior years — REZREYE (20,098) (25,120)
42,600 185,000
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B %5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE CAETIIE)

mEWRBRNAEHR (&)

7 Income tax in the consolidated statement 7
of comprehensive income (continued)

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% FARNBEBMGE %Rm?;zﬁg B FIA16.5% (ZF
(2009: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year. TNE 16.5%) 5t 8 o BINYERT 8 A T IH -
A5 BIRARIRITED] - 2R RIEAIIR AN S B L& H
RKOBRITREEE -

Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate
current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant jurisdictions.

AEERFALEREARKME ([FE]) RR
FIRT R B0 ) - B0 75 ¥Rk 30 v B N 0 P R ER
TRNE &) -

the group did not have any assessable profits for taxation purpose B (=2
in the PRC or Macao during the year (2009: HK$Nil).

No provision for income tax in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") and Macao have been made in the financial statements as

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit

at applicable tax rate:

(b) PR IA S K & T A O R A R R 8

mT -

2010 =2 —=F 2009 —ZEZNF

HK$#& T HK$%E T

Profit before taxation ERA5 A5 A 246,566 1,499,847
Notional tax at the applicable 1R 16.5% 5 A T E A R FIE

tax rate of 16.5% 40,683 247,474
Tax effect of temporary differences RIERH S Z NG 2

not recognised 16,004 51,199
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERTURAN RIS E (2,397) (10,571)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses — SAIHIF 2 BTS2 1,171 12,370
Tax effect of unused tax losses RER R AB A

not recognised IR BN ETE 440,294 381,866
Tax effect of prior year's B) B RIERE

tax losses utilised BIEE BN B2 (387,387) (449,136)
Tax effect of different tax P A RIAR it 5 Bt

rates on subsidiaries operating TR SR E

in other jurisdictions (66,576) (52,046)
Over-provision in respect of prior years — REHZEEE (20,098) (25,120)
Others Hih 20,906 28,964
Actual tax expense FRBHES 42,600 185,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE ABETIIE)

Directors’ remuneration 8 EEME
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing RIBEIZER ETR A REE R RUEPIFE 161 1KHE
Rules and section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is WEEMESFFHENT :
as follows:
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits scheme 2010
fees in kind contributions Total
e B —E-ZF
EEME REYFI= BT B &5t
HKS$#E T HKS$E T HKS$# 7t HKS$# T
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent £ 230,000 515,038 12,000 757,038
Mr. George Roger Manho EEREEE 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung R ST A 230,000 422,740 12,000 664,740
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah RgELE 50,000 - - 50,000
560,000 937,778 24,000 1,521,778
Independent non-executive BIYIFFMTES
directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen ERE L 240,000 - - 240,000
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony BIZRI AL 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry AL A 50,000 - - 50,000
340,000 - - 340,000
Total it 900,000 937,778 24,000 1,861,778
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits scheme 2009
fees in kind contributions Total
e - 2R ZZETNF
E5WE REYF = RIKET B At
HK$HE 7T HK$E7T HK$A 7T HK$# 7T
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent BESE 125,000 526,000 12,000 663,000
Mr. George Roger Manho EEREEE 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung BRI ST 125,000 432,000 12,000 569,000
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah RgELE 50,000 - - 50,000
350,000 958,000 24,000 1,332,000
Independent non-executive B IEMITES
directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen FERE L 240,000 - - 240,000
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony BIZ BT A4 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry A% A 50,000 - - 50,000
340,000 - - 340,000
Total =) 690,000 958,000 24,000 1,672,000

ITE (Holdings) Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2009-2010 4§

63



Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE LETIIE)

9 Individuals with highest emoluments 9 EeHAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2009: RAEMGREHFALF - WL (ZZTAEF : WiL)
two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The BESE  BENMESCEHNWES  E=( (=
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three (2009: THE : =f) REHEA TS EENT -

three) individuals are as follows:

2010 —E—8F 2009 — 2T N F

HK$7E T HK$A& 7T
Salaries and other emoluments e REMME 1,399,274 1,954,912
Retirement scheme contributions ROKETH &R 36,000 36,000
1,435,274 1,990,912
The emoluments of the three (2009: three) individuals with the =N (ZZETNF: =4 ZaFATHHE N T

highest emoluments are within the following band: T3 E

2010 —E—BF 2009 —EZNF

Number of Number of
individuals individuals
ALTEE ALTEHE
HK$Nil — HK$ 1,000,000 87T — 1,000,00058 7T 3 3

10 Profit for the year attributable to 10 ZXXQFRRRFAELEF
shareholders of the company

The consolidated profit attributable to shareholders of the AATREELEGEES S BE—2E58091,846/5 T
company includes a profit of HK$91,846 (2009: a loss of HEF (ZZTNE - B51840,4705870) @ ZE A
HK$40,470) which has been dealt with in the financial statements ERAA T B S EHE N EE -

of the company.
11 Other comprehensive income 11 HttzEWKE

Reclassification adjustments relating to components of other ARALEEBREN D ROAE :

comprehensive income:

2010 —E—BF 2009 —EZNF

HK$# T HK$/E 7T

Available-for-sale financial assets: At ESREE
Changes in fair value recognised during  HiIRE R A FEBER &

the period - (73,320)
Reclassification adjustments for amounts EH D EAE AL EEENEHE

transferred to profit or loss upon (Fi7E5)

disposal (note 5) - (20,880)
Net movement in the fair value reserve AR H Ath 2 T W s P R R A B

during the period recognised in other BEEEEFE

comprehensive income - (94,200)

64 ITE (Holdings) Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2009-2010 %3



Notes to the Financial Statements

P e e

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)
Earnings per share 12 BREF
(a)  Basic earnings per share (a) BERELREF
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit B RRE R B A 7Y 1% B 3R (5 4 7203,96678 7T (=
attributable to shareholders of the company of HK$203,966 (2009: TENF 11,314,847 L) RFANE BT LB
HK$1,314,847) and the weighted average of 904,564,592 (2009: A N #E S 15 B% #904,564,5928% (— T T A, & =
906,675,507) ordinary shares in issue during the year. 906,675,507%) st & o
(b)  Diluted earnings per share (by BREHRF
The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 HE-ZTZTHF=-A=1T—HILFE SRBEFR
March 2010 was based on the profit attributable to shareholders TUB&H&%FME@*\JZOB 9668 7L KX NI FAE %
of the company of HK$203,966 and the weighted average 17E AR A N 19 AR £1906,739,476 kA1 & ¢
number of ordinary shares of 906,739,476 shares, calculated as
follows:
2010 =2 —=F
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for % =A=+— B8N ESRERBFE
the purpose of basic earnings per share at B NHE T AR B
31 March 904,564,592
Effect of deemed issue of shares under RIRZN R RIR B N 80 B AR 5T B4 AR 1
the company’s share option scheme for EBTRONTE
nil consideration 2,174,884
Weighted average number of ordinary shares REA=1T—HBHUGTEEREETERFMN
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share 38 AR N 15 AR 2K
at 31 March 906,739,476
No diluted earnings per share is presented for 2009 as there were HE-ZTTNF=RA=T—BILFEWEELH
no dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence for the year BILEK M ER Y ERESEAF -

ended 31 March 2009.

Segment reporting 13 Z2EHE

The group has adopted HKFRS 8 with effect from 1 April 2009, AEEERME TS AFNA— EILEA&E’J%.W%
HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that requires operating segments B R AR B8R [ E D B0 - BEMIEMELE
to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components A8 A —THMWEEER|  ERIEBEEAKEEIEK
of the group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating BENANBHREHANESEDE - MABANBRES
decision maker for the purpose of allocating resources to segments EE?EEZ‘“ EORIRETFE RN - U B »EEIR K
and assessing their performance. In contrast, the predecessor ED L - AR - ﬂ:t/%ﬁljﬂ’]ﬁlj% (BBUHBRE
standard (HKAS 14, Segment reporting) required an entity to R E145% [ 5 EBERE ) BRE ST A R B & B3
identify two sets of segments (business and geographical) using R RI MBS D (EF ) o @BF - KEB A
a risks and returns approach. In the past, the group’s primary EBOoWEEBEENRTN - BRIEBZ S EHRELE
reporting format was business segments. The application of HKFRS AIE14REENFEZRE D HBLER - BRAEEYE
8 has not resulted in a redesignation of the group’s reportable HRAFIRWEEHEHE S AEENHRE S
segments as compared with the primary reportable segments 2B MERANBT B ISR EEAESRINENE D3
determined in accordance with HKAS 14, nor has the adoption of A E IR R E AL o

HKFRS 8 changed the basis of measurement of segment profit or

loss.
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B %5 Rk B

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

13 Segment reporting (continued)

13

The group’s operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8

are (i) smartcard systems, RFID and IT services; and (ii) consultancy

services. Information regarding these segments is reported below.

BE_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLFE CUETIIE)

ZEHE (F)

BEBEESMBREENET  AEENLEERE
HO R RG)ERERFES - STHEH R R EAEHR
BR 75 LA R (iR AR 75 - BRAE L BEK 23|
I

Smartcard systems, Consultancy
RFID and IT services services Consolidated
BRFRE  GHERR
REARERE el &e
2010 =-2%F 2009 “ZTNEFE 2010=F-FF 2009 _TTNE 2010 =F-FF 2009 “ZINE
HK$B T HK$IBTT HK$E T HK$IBTT HKS?E T HKSHE7T

TURNOVER 3]
Revenue from external customers  ¥f50 2 PHyMzs 19,589,990 20,246,507 35,345,403 57,242,170 54,935,393 77,488,677
RESULTS E
Segment profit/(loss) AEEF /(BE) (1,356,344) (3,526,269) 3,668,367 7,166,104 2,312,023 3,639,835
Unallocated corporate revenue ATRREFNE 111,636 278,833
Unallocated corporate expenses AFAREENH (1,779,932) (1,619,150)
Profit from operations BEEH 643,727 2,299,518
Finance costs BERA (397,161) (799,671)
Profit before taxation BR AT A 246,566 1,499,847
Income tax At (42,600) (185,000)
Profit for the year ERER 203,966 1,314,847
ASSETS BE
Segment assets PHEE 6,005,928 5,802,621 529,300 5,439,460 6,535,228 11,242,081
Unallocated assets ATPRAE 19,399,927 15,967,361
Total assets REAH 25,935,155 27,209,442
LIABILITIES =L
Segment liabilities NEEE 3,761,712 3,971,475 94,809 7,949,037 3,856,521 11,920,512
Unallocated liabilities ATHRAE 10,300,545 3,540,133
Totalliabiltes ffAz 14,157,066 15,460,645
OTHER INFORMATION HihgH
Capital expenditure BARREY 28,902 113,799 2,480 155 31,382 113,954
Depreciation e 222,149 393,060 5,269 6,146 227,418 399,206
Write-down of inventories FEHE 102,849 227,859 - - 102,849 227,859

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 B

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Segment reporting (continued) 13 ZoEEHmE (&)

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and RTEEDHBZEANRALE RS -

allocating resources between segments:

- Segment profit/(loss) represented profit earned by/ — 2585 Er /(BR) 9E28 5
(loss from) each segment without allocation of central EA R RITEARA - A - BEKARL
administration costs, other income, finance costs and RETEH S H T 275 @5 5080 BT B EUE
income tax expense. A (HBEEE) -

- All assets are allocated to reportable segments other - BRIEAT R RITHBC A  FIREIATSHE - B4
than prepaid central administration costs, income tax WIRTEFUARB e RIBSEEWIN - B
recoverable, pledged bank deposits and cash and cash BEHDBTEE59E0 -
equivalents.

- All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other - BRIEAT AR RATIERAC AN ~ FEAST RIS B DA B 58 R
than accrued central administration costs, income tax BEIN FIEEBEESETSE5 S -
payable and short-term borrowings.

(@) Geographical information (a) EHEHR

The group’s operations are principally located in Hong Kong, REBFEEES  BPFIARPBRLEER o

Macao and the PRC.

The group’s revenue from external customers and information AEEREINEF Wz M IERB)E E R I 5 ZP a0

about its non-current assets by geographical location of the assets T

are detailed below:

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
HHNE B EREEE
2010 —F—ZF 2009 —ZTNF 2010 —F—FF 2009 —_TTNF
HKS$#E T HK$# 7T HK$#E T HK$& 7T
Hong Kong 5 45,813,793 70,285,419 152,330 335,838
Macao A 8,902,323 6,411,766 10,101 15,431
PRC =8 198,997 369,025 13,392 20,773
Other locations HAth 7y 20,280 422,467 = =
54,935,393 77,488,677 175,823 372,042
(b)  Information about major customers (by EBRFEEFER
For the year ended 31 March 2010, there was one (2009: one) BE_—_ZT-—ZTF=FA=+—HItFEE Hb—
customer who accounted for over 10% of total revenue of the (ZZEENF: —) BERBE>HBEF K
group with revenue of HK$29,693,229 (2009: HK$50,472,681) /429,693,229 jt (Z T T N, F : 50,472,681/8
related to the consultancy services segment. 7)) AAKBER A EIR10% °
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE LETIIE)

14 Fixed assets 14 BEEEE
The group REHE
Computer
Leasehold Furniture and other
improvements and fixtures equipment Total
ERE
HEMELE BRRRE HitE &t
HK$A 7T HK$A T HK$BTT HK$B 7T

Cost: A
At 1 April 2008 RZZEZN\FHA—H 539,133 456,556 2,908,149 3,903,838
Additions NE - 2,437 111,517 113,954
Disposals/written off HE M - (55,183) (157,630) (212,813)
At 31 March 2009 and RZZENE=RA=1+—H

1 April 2009 k=ZZTNFNA—H 539,133 403,810 2,862,036 3,804,979
Additions NE - 4,444 26,938 31,382
Disposals/written off HeE - (600) (70,306) (70,906)
At 31 March 2010 R-ZE—ZTF=F=+—H 539,133 407,654 2,818,668 3,765,455
Accumulated depreciation: RitiE
At 1 April 2008 RZZZN\FHA—H 215,323 432,197 2,596,676 3,244,196
Charge for the year FRME 235,498 8,723 154,985 399,206
Written back on disposals/ PR MY

written off - (55,183) (155,282) (210,465)
At 31 March 2009 and R=ZZEENE=RA=1+—H

1 April 2009 k=ZZTNFNA—H 450,821 385,737 2,596,379 3,432,937
Charge for the year FRTE 88,312 9,560 129,546 227,418
Written back on disposals/ HE R

written off - (600) (70,123) (70,723)
At 31 March 2010 R-ZZE—ZEF=fA=+—H 539,133 394,697 2,655,802 3,589,632
Carrying amount: WREE
At 31 March 2010 RZE—ZF=A=1+—H - 12,957 162,866 175,823
At 31 March 2009 R-ZETAF=A=+—H 88,312 18,073 265,657 372,042

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 B

BE_ZT-ZTF=-A=+—HLFE CVETIIE)

Goodwill 15 FBE
The group
AEE
HKS$#E T
Cost AR AN
At 1 April 2008, 31 March 2009, R-ZEZEN\EMA—H —TTAF=A=+—8 -
1 April 2009 and 31 March 2010 —EENFHA-—BRZZE-ZF=A=+—H 9,507,923
Accumulated amortisation E-yig 5]
At 1 April 2008, 31 March 2009, RZZBEZENFWA—B —BEEAF=A=+—H
1 April 2009 and 31 March 2010 —EENFNNA—BR-_EZTF=A=+—H 3,169,307
Accumulated impairment loss ZREHERE
At 1 April 2008, 31 March 2009, RZZZENFOA—H - ZETNF=HA=+—1H "
1 April 2009 and 31 March 2010 —ETNFNA—BAR_ZE—ZTF=A=+—H 6,338,616
Carrying amount R E B
At 31 March 2010 RZZE—ZFTF=A=+—H -
At 31 March 2009 R=FEZNF=A=+—H -
Investments in subsidiaries 16 MEBEBARRE
The company
¥ /NG|
2010 — 2 —ZF 2009 —ZTETHF
HKS$#E T HK$E 7T
Unlisted investments, at cost JEETRE (IRRA) 4,000,000 4,000,000
Amounts due from subsidiaries i EENGIL S 25,934,919 26,121,962
Less: Impairment loss B REEE (22,274,925) (22,274,925)
3,659,994 3,847,037

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free

and repayable on demand.

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries

which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the

group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

FEMF B A RIIRKI REER - RERABERE

NTRAIEXEARENEE EENBBENNE
RAEFHE © BREBS - IR ANE AR -

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLFE CUETIIE)

16 Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

MEARARE (F)

Place of Percentage of Particulars of
incorporation/  ownership issued and
Name of company establishment interest paid up capital Principal activities
2311 D Fria R Y BRTR
NCIECE FR L i B Aok HERAWFEE FEEK
Indirect
i3
ITE Smartcard Solutions Hong Kong 100% 3,418,336 shares of Provision of smartcard systems
Limited BB HK$1 each and related services and sales
BERBBRA 3,418,336/% of service related products
(BRREET) RO BE R Z 5t RARR AR TS &
HE R H R E R
RF Tech Limited Hong Kong 100% 2 shares of Manufacture and research of
BB HK$1 each smartcard system and service
2% (BRmEmE1T) related products
HERAEEERRZSIERAER
ITE (China) Limited (note) PRC 100% United States dollars Provision of smartcard systems
BB KRBT R L el ("US$") 700,000 and related services
BRAR () 700,000 7T REE R RS RARBRYES
Quesco Systems Limited Hong Kong 100% 6,500,000 shares of Provision of IT consultancy
ERRGERERAR B HK$1 each services
6,500,000/% TR B AR RS
(ZRmEETT)
ITE Sistema (Macau) Macao 100% Macao Patacas Provision of smartcard systems
Limitada JRFT (“MOP") 25,000 and related services and sales

Bz O”F) R AR

25,00038 5 #&

of service related products
RHE LR E S AR RS
SHE AR TS AR B

Note:  ITE (China) Limited is a wholly foreign owned enterprise with an

operating period of 20 years expiring on 26 June 2021.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Inventories 17 R®E
Inventories in the consolidated balance sheet comprise: RiFEBEERERNGFERRE
The group
rEH
2010 =2 —ZF 2009 —=ThF
HK$#% T HK$#E 7T
Raw materials R 642,236 805,289
Work in progress M 366,165 226,539
Finished goods R 591,176 668,049
1,599,577 1,699,877
Trade and other receivables 18 REWEF K H i EWIRX
The group The company
rEE ¥ /N
2010 =F—FF 2009 —TTNF 2010 =F—FF 2009 —ZTTNF
HK$#E T HKS$#E T HK$#E T HK$ATT
Trade receivables eI E 5 R 1,289,251 6,903,675 - -
Other receivables Hth E YR R 768,191 457,511 - -
Gross amount due from  EUEFH IR
customers for service EHITIEFIRLE
contract work (note 19)  (Fff3¥19) 1,846,547 531,999 = =
Retention money EUIRE &
receivables 46,870 67,923 - -
Deposits and prepayments z]< K 58t & B 979,519 1,374,088 170,550 165,035
4,930,378 9,335,196 170,550 165,035
All of the trade and other receivables, apart from certain rental BRELBEETS AEH500,8748 T (ZEENEF
deposits of HK$500,874 (2009: HK$1,950), of the group are 1,950%7T) 5]&4N - AEERMERKE S R H At
expected to be recovered or recognised as expense within one JEWIR HRTAE R —F AR KRB SRR ER °
year.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ZT-ZF=HA=1t—RALLFE CAETIIE)

18 Trade and other receivables (continued) 18 EWEZRHEMEBEWIRR ()
(@) The ageing analysis of trade receivables as at (a) REEBRWEZIRFKNIRE 2T
the balance sheet date is as follows: ™
The group
rEE
2010 —=—2F 2009 —ZETNEF
HK$#E T HK$/E7T

Current N HA 566,938 499,583

Less than 1 month past due wmE N —@EA 613,873 4,990,969

1 month to 3 months past due BH— 1IH:.: & A 95,585 1,381,703
More than 3 months but less than BHBRBE=EABILR—F

1 year past due 12,855 31,420

Amounts past due BHISER 722,313 6,404,092

1,289,251 6,903,675

Trade receivables are due within 60 days (2009: 45 days) from the
date of billing. Further details on the group’s credit policy are set
out in note 28(a).

(b)  Trade receivables that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually
nor collectively considered to be impaired are set out in note 18(a).

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record
with the group. Based on past experience, management believes
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are considered fully recoverable. The
group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

19 Service contracts in progress 19 ETHHRBELR
The group
rEE
2010 =2 —ZF 2009 — TN F
HKS$#E T HK$E 7T

Contract costs incurred plus recognised %4 B 2 A4 B A8 hn (8 AR =

profits less recognised losses to date A8 B 8 &5 18 4,211,297 2,178,185
Less: Progress billings o NS (2,567,700) (2,077,690)
1,643,597 100,495

Gross amount due from customers for FREFERRIEE A TI2KIB42%E

service contract work (note 18) (ftzE18) 1,846,547 531,999

Gross amount due to customers for EREPHREE L LIZRIBAAEE
service contract work (note 22) (PMzE22) (202,950) (431,504)
1,643,597 100,495

20 Income tax in the consolidated balance 20 HEEESGBEXRNAMEH
sheet

(@) Current taxation in the consolidated balance (a) HEEEBBEXRMAMEHIE:
sheet represents:

The group
rEE
2010 =2 —F 2009 —TTHF
HK$#E T HK$B 7T

Provision for Hong Kong profits tax FREBREHEE

for the year 62,698 210,120
Provisional profits tax paid B BERNSE (135,866) (109,258)
Balance of profits tax provision FPEENSHBEEHA

relating to prior years - (8,867)
Income tax (recoverable)/payable (FTYR @),/ FEAS PS5 (73,168) 91,995

ITE (Holdings) Limited 73
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

20

21

HE—

—ZE=HA=t—RLLFE (LETIIE)

Income tax in the consolidated balance 20 SKEEEEBRNFAEBH (&)
sheet (continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised (b) RERELEHRIEEE
At 31 March 2010, the group has not recognised deferred RZE—TF=A=+—8H" EEIE’\‘EI%:E’\JEEE%FL%T%
tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of approximately *'J"**fﬁﬁ’ﬁﬁﬁﬁm‘%ﬂ =W NAETE - AL EARFIE
HK$40,207,000 (2009: HK$41,143,000) and deductible temporary 5B B M R TR L%RIEQF%U?EMO,ZOZOOO}%
differences of approximately HK$795,000 (2009: HK$730,000) TT (ZZZNF © 41,143,000/87T)  MARHERE
due to the uncertainty of the related tax benefits being 2= FE4) /795,000 7T (ZZZ L4 ¢ 730,0008
realised through future taxable profits. The unused tax losses TT) ° AFEREIE 43,844,000 T (ZTTLEF ¢
of approximately HK$3,844,000 (2009: HK$3,836,000) can be 3,836,000/ 7T ) ] FA LA ¥ 5 B2 82 2 R 2R L SF Y JE AR
carried forward for offset against the taxable profits of subsequent Fism Al - i E5HE Al Al ok A B ©
years for five years following the loss year. Other unused tax losses
may be carried forward indefinitely.
(<) Deferred tax liabilities () EEFEBEEE
At 31 March 2010, there were no significant unrecognised RZZE—ZTF=A=+—H  WEBEAERRHE
deferred tax liabilities (2009: HK$Nil). RIELEHBEE (Z2TNE : TET) °
Cash and cash equivalents 21 BRERBAEEZEY
The group The company
rEE AT
2010 == —FF 2009 —TZTNF 2010 =F—FF 2009 —TTNF
HK$# T HK%E HK$E 7T HK$# 7T
Cash and bank balances & NMIR1T455 1,532,500 1,314,366 79,814 37,769
Time deposits FHITER 17,623,709 14,487,961 = -
19,156,209 15,802,327 79,814 37,769
Less: Pledged bank B BIRIRIRITIE K
deposits (note 24(c)) (Mi5E24(c)) (17,623,709) (14,487,961) = =
Cash and bank balances #&EAEBERNE M
in the balance sheet R1THE R 1,532,500 1,314,366 79,814 37,769
Bank overdrafts (note 24) $R1T:E % (fiiE24) (6,752,467) (285,997)
Cash and cash equivalents &R EREBXRL
in the consolidated ReRBSEEY
cash flow statement (5,219,967) 1,028,369

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Time deposits are made for terms of one to three
months (2009: three months), depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the group.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

22 Trade and other payables 22 EREZREMESIRR
The group The company
rEE PN
2010 == —FF 2009 —TTNF 2010 =F—FF 2009 —_TTNF
HK$#E T HK$#E T HK$#E T HK$# 7T
Trade payables B SR 1,026,583 594,016 = =
Accrued charges and FEETE R R EHA
other payables FETIRER 1,758,404 8,494,785 548,078 604,733
Gross amount due to R &P H RS
customers for service AXTIERIBLRE
contract work (note 19)  (FffzF19) 202,950 431,504 = =
Deferred maintenance RIERE WA
income 1,125,443 1,055,657 - -
Retention money payables FE{J{RE & - 14,400 - -
Deposits received BT & = 158,024 = -
4,113,380 10,748,386 548,078 604,733

B SR SEARE WA R 21,3698 T (Z2ZNF ¢
61,7508 7T) S » AEEN RN E H R EAM B IR
ROBEHRAR - FAX N REEREERER W
A °

All of the trade and other payables, apart from certain deferred
maintenance income of HK$1,369 (2009: HK$61,750), of the
group are expected to be settled or recognised as income within
one year or are repayable on demand.

The ageing analysis of trade payables as at the balance sheet date, REZARGEERNESIRKOIRKRATAT
based on the invoice date, is as follows:

The group
KEE
2010 —E—ZF 2009 —ZETNF
HKS$E T HK$A 7T
Less than 1 month DR —1E A 424,256 223,058
1 month to 3 months —==18A4 352,269 303,547
More than 3 months but less than 1 year #i@=1{&AE LR —5E 235,747 9,181
More than 1 year il —F 14,311 58,230
1,026,583 594,016

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE LETIIE)

23 Provisions 23 BE

The group &M

Employee Defect liability

benefits period

(note (a)) (note (b)) Total

EERF R EHA

(FizE(a)) (Pt £ (b)) &t

HK$/E7T HK$/E7T HK$7E 7T
At 1 April 2008 RZZEZN\FHEA—H 1,300,316 299,099 1,599,415
Additional provisions recognised REONB BRI 515,965 1,197,067 1,713,032
Utilisation of provision EE B (537,641) (839,923) (1,377,564)
At 31 March 2009 and 1 April 2009 R-—ZEZhE=A=+—HRK

—ZENFMA—H 1,278,640 656,243 1,934,883

Additional provisions recognised FINEE AT IR 221,404 295,970 517,374
Utilisation of provision [RES R (1,408,016) (753,022) (2,161,038)
At 31 March 2010 RZE—ZTF=A=+—H 92,028 199,191 291,219

Notes: B3

(@) The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave accrued (a) EERABETERE FBRRRERNFHREE -
and compensation claims made by employees.

(b) The provision for the defect liability period relates to the estimated (b) REHRBEEIEEES TR SR RERNMGERT
cost of work agreed to be carried out for the rectification of smartcard TREAN - ARRERHEEHRENEREET
systems to certain customers. The amount has not been discounted A BURAFTEHARME -
for the purpose of measuring the provision for defect liability period
because the effect would not be material.

24 Short-term borrowings 24 HHEE
The bank loans and overdrafts were repayable within one year or AR —FANNEERERNRTEERSEIAT ¢
on demand as follows:
The group
rEE
2010 == —F 2009 —ETNF
HKS$# T HK$H T

Secured bank loans BEMRITEE 3,000,000 2,399,384

Secured bank overdrafts (note 21) BEMRITESL (FIzE21) 6,752,467 285,997

9,752,467 2,685,381

76 ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Short-term borrowings (continued)

The bank loans and overdrafts bear interest at approximately 3.5%
(2009: 5.5%) per annum for the year.

At 31 March 2010, the group’s general banking facilities were
secured by the following:

(@) corporate guarantees executed by the company;

(b) personal guarantees executed by two directors of the
company (note 31(b));

(©) the group’s pledged bank deposits (note 21); and
(d) the guarantee executed by the Government of the HKSAR.
Employee retirement benefits

The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not
previously covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The
MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$20,000. Contributions to the plan
vest immediately.

The subsidiary operating in the PRC is required to participate in
a defined contribution retirement scheme, organised by relevant
government authorities for the staff in the PRC. The subsidiary
is required to make contributions to the retirement scheme at
specified rates of the basic salary of its employees in the PRC.

The group’s retirement scheme contributions charged to profit or
loss for the year were HK$1,471,068 (2009: HK$2,158,016).
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BE_ZT-ZTF=-A=+—HLFE CVETIIE)
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Share options schemes 26 HER#ESTE
The company adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme (the RAARRZZEE—F A+ HEM—HLTATE
"Pre-IPO Scheme”) on 12 February 2001. In addition, the company RSt ([ EmalEtEl D) - RZZEZZFNAN
adopted a 2002 share option scheme (the “2002 Scheme”) on H RAAREMN T _FHEEETE (222
8 August 2002, and the Pre-IPO Scheme was simultaneously F5rEl]) MR E EARTETEl o F LM ATET 814
terminated. Upon termination of the Pre-IPO Scheme, no further 1E1& - TNEBRBE IR EEFERE - iR
options may be offered thereunder. However, in respect of the TERBERE  EmATstEIEEE AR - EMATE
outstanding options, the provisions of the Pre-IPO Scheme will ElMARITE R BRI FE BT <F E T ATET & R AIZ
remain in force. The outstanding options granted under the WRETRUNE=Z+T=F - —EZ_FFHEBTEL
Pre-IPO Scheme continue to be subject to the provisions of the 2 b i R T {5 B IR A (R AT R o
Pre-IPO Scheme and Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules, and
the adoption of the 2002 Scheme will not in any event affect the
terms in respect of such outstanding options.
(@)  Pre-IPO Scheme (a) EmATEE
As mentioned above, the Pre-IPO Scheme was terminated on 8 ANERKE - EWRIFER T _FNANBE
August 2002 and no further options may be offered thereunder. 1E - R TERMItBETERE  REARRITE
Details of the outstanding share options of the scheme during the BRI BET
year are as follow:
Number of share options Price per
HREHA sharetobe  Market value
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding paidon  pershare at
Name or category of at 1 April during during during  at31March Period during which exercise of  date of grant
participant 2009 the year the year the year 2010  Date granted options exercisable options of options
RZZENEF RN=2-2& TRIBRE Rt BRE
mE-H SHE S AXAH Ll
AERANADER HRTE  RERARE  RERTE  REREN HATE  REBH BRETAS BRER REATHE
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent/Director 6,109,440 - - - 6,109,440 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to HK$0.095 /A
11 February 2011
EIES Ve & k23 “ZZ-F\A=1t-RZ 0.095% 7 &R
—At=8 —F—%-At+-A
George Roger Manho/Director 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to HK$0.095 N/A
11 February 2011
Higk /&% 1% —ZT-FN\A=t-HZE 0.095%7C TEf
—At=A —2—%-f+-H
Cheng Kwok Hung/Director 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to HK$0.095 N/A
11 February 2011
HEE/E% —IT-f “22-45/\A-t-RE 0.095%7C TEA
—At=A —2—%-f+-H
Liu Hoi Wah/Director 19,112,640 - - - 19,112,640 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to HK$0.095 N/A
11 February 2011
HlEE e —ETF “FT-F)\A=+-BZ% 009537 Ecli
—At+=A —T——%#-f+-H
Lee Peng Fei, Allen/Director 1,760,000 - - - 1,760,000 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to HK$0.095 N/A
11 February 2011
PER /£ I ZEE-F\A=T-RHZE 0.095%7T TER
—At=A —T——#-f+-H
Employees 35,157,920 - - - 35,157,920 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to HK$0.095 N/A
11 February 2011
E8 —F3f = 0.095/&7T ER
—At=A
70,140,000 - - - 70,140,000

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Share options schemes (continued)
(b) 2002 Scheme

The company operates the 2002 Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the 2002 Scheme include the company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the group, suppliers of goods or services to the group, customers
of the group, advisers and consultants, etc. The 2002 Scheme
became effective on 8 August 2002 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2002 Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the company shall not exceed 30% of the total number of shares
of the company in issue. The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible participant in the 2002
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the company
within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the
company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a

general meeting.

Share options granted to directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the company’s shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general

meeting.
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26 Share option schemes (continued) 26 HBRESTS (&)
(b) 2002 Scheme (continued) (b)y Z=ZE-FE (E)
The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within ERTEREETRNREREBEREN -+ —X
21 days from the date of the offer upon payment of a nominal N BB THRBAEREXERE - K
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period BRENTENRBESET - NEEH—REH
of the share options granted is determinable by the directors, and kG YRREREBEREBHRTFR @ SBRF
commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date H ORZEZT_FEHEIBAAE T o
which is not later than 10 years from the date of the offer of the
share options or the expiry date of the 2002 Scheme, if earlier.
The exercise price of the share option is determinable by the BERENTEERDBESEE  HEETFER
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the closing TIEEE ()R aROEBRER D E B KT
price of the company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share 8 (A AIRGOERMZL BERT AER S B 6 F
options, (i) the average closing price of the company’s shares for HURTIIE s (i) IRDEE -
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
and (iii) the nominal value of the share.
Details of the outstanding share options of the 2002 Scheme REARKRITEN ST _FrrENBERENFE
during the year are as follows: NN
Number of share options Price per
BEEHE share to be  Market value
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding paid on  per share at
Name or category of at 1 April during during during  at 31 March Period during which exercise date of grant
participant 2009 the year the year the year 2010  Date granted options exercisable of options of options
RZBBNF R-B-BF TiERE REBRE
mA—H =A=t+-8 AXH EAH
AERERADER HATE  RERBE  RERTE  RERAXX HARTE BEBAH BT BRER R E
Employees 3,500,000 - - - 3,500,000 9 August 2002 9 August 2003 to HK$0.175 HK$0.175
8 August 2012
EE e S “RE=E\ANRZE 0.175%7C 0.175%7T
NAAR —F——FN\ANB
An employee 6,400,000 - - - 6,400,000 9 August 2002 9 February 2003 to HK$0.175 HK$0.175
8 August 2012
B8 BT F “EE=4#-_AHAZE 0.175%7T 0.175%7T
NARR —T-—FNANR
9,900,000 = = - 9,900,000

At 31 March 2010, the number of shares outstanding and issuable
under the Pre-IPO Scheme and the 2002 Scheme were 70,140,000
and 9,900,000, respectively.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27 Capital and reserves
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(a) Share capital (@) BR
(i) The company (i) NAR]
2010 —Z—ZF 2009 —TT N F
Number of shares HK$ Number of shares HK$
R EE BT PEGEEEE! BT
Authorised: EERA
Ordinary shares of BRMEEO.017TH]
HK$0.01 each LA 2,000,000,000 20,000,000 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Ordinary share, issued BETR
and fully paid: AR RAL AR :
At 1 April WO A—H 905,568,000 9,055,680 907,536,000 9,075,360
Repurchase of shares Bl ER G (2,252,000) (22,520) (1,968,000) (19,680)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 903,316,000 9,033,160 905,568,000 9,055,680

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as

declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share

at meetings of the company. All ordinary shares rank equally with

regard to the company’s residual assets.

(ii) During the year, the company repurchased its own ordinary

shares on the Stock Exchange as follows:

EREFEAARIRERAEIRMKS - A%
RAEEEE LRER-FZRERR - B LBER
EASERSEE T EHARFUHA -

(i) FA - ARARR S FTEET 5 B

5

Number of Price paid per share
shares Aggregate BRI AE®
Month/year £,/ A repurchased prices paid Highest Lowest
= B8 IR0 B B X fH#%E BS B
HK$A&7T HK$A& 7T HK$E T
September 2009 ZETNFNA 1,524,000 95,194 0.065 0.060
October 2009 —ETHETA 24,000 1,548 0.059 0.059
December 2009 —ETENF+_H 704,000 77,932 0.125 0.098
2,252,000 174,674

The repurchased shares were cancelled, and accordingly the issued

share capital of the company was reduced by the nominal value of

these shares. The premium paid on the repurchase of the shares of
HK$152,154 was charged to share premium account.

ZERBRONRBERZEHEE MARAB R
TRATRBEZERMMEME T o I EBERG A
152,154 TTim BRI 5 B A0 ©

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE LETIIE)
27 Capital and reserves (continued) 27 EXkf#E (E)
(a)  Share capital (continued) (@) B (8&)
(i) Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at (iii) REEE B R R B ER R R T A B AR

balance sheet date

Exercise 2010 ==—ZHF 2009 —ZTTNF

Price Number Number
Exercise period 1T TEE BB A
21 August 2001 to 11 February 2011 —ZEE—F\A=-+—HZ% HK$0.095
—T——&-A+—H 0.095 7T 70,140,000 70,140,000
9 August 2003 to 8 August 2012 —EE=FNANAEZE HK$0.175
o AN VAN = 0.175% 7T 3,500,000 3,500,000
9 February 2003 to 8 August 2012 —TE=F-ANAZE HK$0.175
e AN VAN = 0.175% 7T 6,400,000 6,400,000
80,040,000 80,040,000
Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share BRERAABRIAEG - RBRERE -RAQE
in the company. Further details of these options are set out in note LR o BREREFIBEHN AN BRI T26 o
26 to the financial statements.
(b)  Reserves (b) B
(i) The group (i) REE
The amounts of the group’s reserves and the movements therein REENFEREEHIRNGEERZD K
are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
(ii) The company (ii) RAT]
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
R4 E Eay &t
HK$E 7T HK$E T HK$E T
Balance at 1 April 2008 R N\FNA—B &R 22,816,249 (24,292,286) (1,476,037)
Repurchase of shares (ol 8 A% 1) (94,065) - (94,065)
Loss for the year FREE - (40,470) (40,470)
Balance at 31 March 2009 —EENF=A=+—HK
and 1 April 2009 :ggnimﬂ—amﬁ% 22,722,184 (24,332,756) (1,610,572)
Repurchase of shares (note 27(a)(ii)) @8R (HiEE27(a)ii) (152,154) - (152,154)
Profit for the year F AR - 91,846 91,846
Balance at 31 March 2010 R —T4F
= A=+—H#&s 22,570,030 (24,240,910) (1,670,880)

82 ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Capital and reserves (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by the
company’s articles of association and the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands, which provides that the share premium account
may be applied in making distributions or paying dividends to
members, provided that immediately following the date on which
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium may also be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.

(ii) Merger reserve

The group’s merger reserve represents the excess of the aggregate
of the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation completed on 18
November 2000 on the nominal value of the share capital of the

company issued in exchange therefor.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(0).

(iv) Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve has been set up and is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for
available-for-sale financial assets in note 2(d).

(d) Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2010, the company had no reserve available for
distribution to equity holders of the company (2009: HK$Nil).
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27

HE—

Capital and reserves (continued)
(e) Capital management

The group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns and the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in
light of changes in economic conditions.

The group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net
debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose the group defines
net debt as total debt (which includes short-term borrowings and
trade and other payables) plus unaccrued proposed dividends, less
cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits. Adjusted
capital comprises all components of equity less unaccrued
proposed dividends.

During the year, the group’s strategy, which was unchanged from
2009, was to maintain the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio below
50%. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt financing or
sell assets to reduce debt.

The major financial covenant for the group’s committed banking
facilities is to maintain the consolidated tangible net worth not less
than HK$10,000,000 during the period of facilities granted. At 31
March 2010, the group had complied with the relevant financial
covenant.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises
in the normal course of the group’s business.

These risks are limited by the group’s financial management
policies and practices described below.

(a) Credit risk

The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 60 days (2009: 45 days)
from the date of billing. Normally, the group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of
the industry and country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the balance sheet
date, the group has a certain concentration of credit risk as 22%
(2009: 58%) and 73% (2009: 87 %) of the total trade receivables
was due from the group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of
any collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the balance sheet after deducting any impairment
allowance. Except for the financial guarantees given by the
company as set out in note 30, the group does not provide any
other guarantees which would expose the group or the company
to credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of
these financial guarantees at the balance sheet date is disclosed in
note 30.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade and other receivables are set out in
note 18.
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28 Financial instruments (continued) 28

(b) Liquidity risk

The group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash

equivalents or have available funding through an adequate

amount of committed annual credit facilities from banks to meet

its commitments over the next year in accordance with its strategic

plan. In the opinion of the directors of the company, most of the

borrowings that mature with one year are able to renew and the

group expects to have adequate sources of funding to finance the

group and manage the liquidity position.

The maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities as at the

balance sheet date, based on the contractual undiscounted cash

flows, was as follows:

BE_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLFE CUETIIE)

€T A (&)
(b) BEERBUERR

AEENBRRDRTREANRE LR EEY - X
FEBRTRENATERREEE - MMEEXNT
FELEENAREI - ARBESERL B
HBOR—FANANEEG R EE R - RNEE A
KBERHECHKFENENEESHEE  WAEER
BEDAN °

The group AEH

Total More than
2010 contractual 1 year but

Carrying undiscounted Within 1 year less than

amount cash flow or on demand 2 years

—E-ZF BHRRITR R—FR BB —F
PREE BER REEREE BELRMEF

HK$#® T HK$#E T HK$# T HK$#® T

Trade and other payables JERE 5

N B b E IR R 3,910,430 3,910,430 3,909,061 1,369
Short-term borrowings R E 9,752,467 9,785,649 9,785,649 -
13,662,897 13,696,079 13,694,710 1,369
Total More than
2009 contractual 1 year but

Carrying undiscounted Within 1 year less than

amount cash flow or on demand 2 years

—TTNEF BRI MR—FR" HiE—F
MREE BWER HEERER BARRF

HK$AE 7T HK$#&7T HK$# T HK$# 7T

Trade and other payables EBNES

R H At FEA IR R 10,316,882 10,316,882 10,255,132 61,750
Short-term borrowings EHEEE 2,685,381 2,685,381 2,685,381 -
13,002,263 13,002,263 12,940,513 61,750

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Financial instruments (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued)
The maturity profile of the company’s financial liabilities as at the

balance sheet date, based on the contractual undiscounted cash

flows, was as follows:

28 £@WTIE (&)
(b) BEERFBHERR (&)

WEEHR > AREfAENERABENRTRES
IR

The company AATH
2010 =5-%% 2009 —EZNAF
Total Total
contractual Within contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cash flow on demand amount cash flow on demand
BHRIE R—FR BHRITE R—FR
IREE REeR FEEREE IREE BEm FEERER
HK$# T HKS$# T HK$#& 7T HK$BTT HK$S 7T HK$ %L
Accrued charges FEST B
and other payables R E A E IR TR 548,078 548,078 548,078 604,733 604,733 604,733
() Interest rate risk () F=ZER

The group’s significant interest-bearing assets are bank deposits.
The group’s interest income is dependent on changes in market
interest rates and will not have significant adverse impact on the

group’s financial position.

The group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from its short-term
borrowings. These borrowings bear interest at rates varying with
the then prevailing market conditions.

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest rates
would have no significant impact on the group’s profit and equity

for the year.

AEBENEIENSEESRRITER  AEELF
BUIRAB KT IS M R EE) - (B AL E 0 F 154
A EAFIRE -

o

AEENFEEBREERER - ZEEFREE

BTS2 8 1RF B RGEF S -

MEI0EEZHNSIEA LB TS HAEE K
AABARFEEHGENNERELBATE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 Rk B

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

28

BE_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLFE CUETIIE)

Financial instruments (continued) 28 E@IT A (&)
(d)  Currency risk (d) EE¥EREE
The group’s business transactions, assets and liabilities are HARAEBABOEBRS  BEERBEHFEN
principally denominated in HK$, Renminbi (“RMB”), MOP and BT AR RPIE R ETTINE - REAZAIN
US$. The group has minimal exposure to currency risk as the HE R AR o f R TT K M R BRI B T
foreign exchange rate of HK$ is close to MOP and HK$ is pegged HETHHMBER  WAKEMAZNE KRR E
with US$. The group currently does not have a currency hedging e AEENEBBERRSENERR (INF)
policy in respect of currency debt. The group will monitor its HAEBEBEERMBHER  ETINERRE
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant o AEEFEBREREINERR  WRERER
currency exposure should the need arise. LAZINGE 32 ER & 4 %5 R HINGEE [ By
The following table details the group’s exposure at the balance REBNEEABHNUIREEERNEREE 27
sheet date to currency risk arising from recognised assets or WEREERABBMEENEERBFAET
liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate.
Assets Liabilities
BE afE
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-2F —TENEF —E-2F —ZEThF
HKS$#% 7T HK$37T HKS$# T HK$E T

RMB NS 76,256 2,556 (161,491) -

MOP SR 435,766 296,837 (62,033) =

us$ =S 14,792 84,567 (11,583) (267,508)

A reasonably possible change of 1% in exchange rates between
RMB to HK$, MOP to HK$ and US$ to HK$ would have no
significant impact on the group’s profit and equity for the year.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 B

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Financial instruments (continued)

(e) Categories of financial instruments

28 £@WTIE (&)

(e) EWMIAMNESR

2010 —=—=FF 2009 —TZTHF
HK$#& T HK$#ETT

The group A58
Financial assets EMEE
Loan and receivables B3R % e MR 3R

(including cash and bank balances) (BHEBE€ RIBITER) 4,307,836 9,841,255
Financial liabilities S@mAas
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BHERANSRIBE 13,662,897 13,002,263
The company &2 7]
Financial assets ERMEE
Loan and receivables B3R FEWUIR 51

(including cash and bank balances) (PIER & RIRITHER) 3,739,808 3,884,806
Financial liabilities EA =N
Financial liabilities at amortised cost B AN RERE 548,078 604,733

(f) Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially

different from their fair values as at 31 March 2010 and 2009.

Commitments

At 31 March 2010, the total future minimum lease payments

under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

f) 2LFEE

FESBIANARSERAN T FFR-F
FAEZA=+-BNAFEEREATA -

29 HAIE

R-E-—ZF=R=+—H A&SERBEENZE
BT A S A E AR B 12 S SEE &R

IR :
The group
rEE
2010 —Z—ZF 2009 —=ZhF
HK$#E T HK$ T

Within 1 year —FR 1,662,023 855,116
After 1 year but within 5 years —FHRAFA 1,961,489 67,340
3,623,512 922,456

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

29

30

31

HE—

Commitments (continued) 29

The group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties and
items of office equipment held under operating leases. The leases
typically run for a period of 1 year to 5 years (2009: 1 year to
5 years) with an option to renew the lease when all terms are
renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

The group and the company did not have any other significant
capital and financial commitments as at 31 March 2010 (2009:
Nil).

Contingent liabilities 30

At 31 March 2010, the company has issued corporate guarantees
to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to certain wholly
owned subsidiaries. The directors of the company do not consider
it probable that a claim will be made against the company under
any of the guarantees. The maximum liability of the company at
the balance sheet date under the corporate guarantees issued is
the banking facilities of approximately HK$10 million (2009: HK$7
million) drawn down by the subsidiaries at that date.

Material related party transactions 31
(a) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the group,

represents amounts paid to the company’s directors as disclosed in
note 8, is as follows:

—ZE=HA=t—RLLFE (LETIIE)

#iE ()

AEEAEETR2HENMERRETRES - H
HWH—RE—FE2ELF (ZTTNF  —FERF)
I AT R SR AE R i T E TR - xS HMNILLA
EfRIHAEE

AEERARBANR-_ZT-—FTF=ZA=+—"BLEE

AEANER R BARE (CEFAF - |) -
HAREE
R-F-—TFZA=+—H XRARET2EM

E’Aﬂﬂ’]ﬂ%fmﬂﬁhﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ”ﬁ RATEZLT
REARRREAI A ERABERNRE - A
RARGEEBENB AR RITRHENBERER TR
= & f& /A10,000,0007T (=ZE = A, % : 7,000,000
JL) °

3

EXBEALRS
(a) EAREBEASHE

ARAMREEABMSRELNAANEFLH
(AW TESHE) I -

2010 =B —84F 2009 —ZETNE

HKS$#& T HK$S T
Short-term employee benefits RHEERA 1,837,778 1,648,000
Post-employment benefits ER%ER 24,000 24,000
1,861,778 1,672,000

The remuneration is included in “staff costs” (note 6(b)).

(b)  Provision of personal guarantees

Two (2009: two) directors of the company have provided personal
guarantees to the extent of approximately HK$17 million (2009:
HK$22 million) to the group in relation to general banking facilities
granted to the group (note 24(b)).

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The management had made the following estimates and
assumptions in the process of applying the group’s accounting
policies, which are described in note 2, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities as discussed below.

(a) Revenue and profit recognition

The group estimates the percentage of completion of the service
contracts by reference to the proportion that contract costs
incurred for work performed to date to the estimated total costs
for the contracts. When the final cost incurred by the group
is different from the amounts that were initially budgeted,
such differences will impact the revenue and the profit or loss
recognised in the period in which such determination is made.
Budgeted costs of each project will be reviewed periodically and
revised accordingly where significant variances are noted during

the revision.
(b)  Fixed assets and depreciation

The group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for the group’s fixed assets. This estimate
is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
fixed assets of a similar nature and function.

(c) Impairment on trade and other receivables

The policy for impairment on trade and other receivables of the
group is based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing
analysis of accounts and on management’s judgement. A
considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer.
If the financial conditions of customers of the group were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional impairment adjustments may be required.

32

Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 B

BE_ZT-ZTF=-A=+—HLFE CVETIIE)

A THBAEENEERIR

ERAAREEN S BR (FARWNE2) - E12E
SYEH TOIMEE RAE - RAAIJEEHEERAE
IREEE L KIRE B -

(a) WERIEFER

AEE2EE A ANBETRAEENA DA
HRES R AEEN L AIEFHRER N TXE
D o HEARBEMELNRERARTHARED
FENRE - BEREZEAFEFELRERENEER
WARIEE - %18 B W IAE KA R E 22 5 R A
ERTHMEHRERED - Al ERER -

(b) BEEERIE

AEBREAEBEEEEEN G ERHREH
FEER MLt 2REEEAHEZEREE
ARINANEEEENERAERHmE -

() FEWEZ K HEMEWIRRARE

7R [ e W B 5 T L A R W R SR RO R (B BUR = AR IR
WK R R e 5T - AR EIRER B - T EEE
BEPNEEERRBERACHEEITE—EIZE
HHE - HEARER PP RME L HE
FFREESRISRF - 1T ERRINRIE
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33

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(d)  Write-down of inventories

A write-down of inventories is made based on the ageing and
estimated net realisable value of inventories. The assessment of the
write-down amount involves judgement and estimates. Where the
actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and
the write-down amount charge/reverse in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.

Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2010

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amendments, new standards and
interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2010 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements.

Of these developments, the following relate to matters that may
be relevant to the group’s operations and financial statements:

32

33

—ZE=HA=t—RLLFE (LETIIE)

EETHBAEEZNEERR ()

(d =#EHE

FRFTBIIRERE RS ATZHFE - MiTEF
1085 e FI BT R b5t o B ARRERR A REFURFEH
BER  AREEEeRMEARENHREA - 25
T EFENREERFENRRIPE -

BE_Z-ZF=-A=1T—-HLEFE
Eﬁﬁﬁfaﬂiixﬂ’\ﬂlgﬂ MEAK R
EE’J/@EEJE

BENSUBBRTEZH  BESFHMASEHR
MZIRER  FEARRE  EREBE_T—TF
ZA=THUEFENARER - BRR ST
HRERM -

lt:{ XA DA A3 AT AR AR £R B e 8 K B 7

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
LT BHAR %A
WETHBRABENR

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009

REBBYBMEEL (ZETNF)

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010

BEBBUBRELEA (ZF—FF)

1 July 2009 or
1 January 2010
—ZETRFLHA B
—T—ZTF—HA—H

1 July 2010 or
1 January 2011
—E-TFELA—A%K
—Z=——%—H—H
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but

not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2010 (continued)

BE_Z-ZTF=A=1+—-HLFE
EEMERERNERT - MEATE
BNEERE (8

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

UL BHARE %A
HETHBRUERENR
HKAS 24 (Revised) Related party disclosures 1 January 2011
BEERIF 245 (K1EFT) B 5 R ER —E——%—H—H
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and separate financial statements 1 July 2009
SA ST AERIFE 2798 ({8ET) fre KR BB R —ZEThFLA—H
Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time adoption of Hong Kong Financial 1 January 2010
Reporting Standards
BBV R ELRE1RAERT BIRERINE B 15 5 4E R —ZE—ZF—-H—H
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based payment 1 January 2010
BBV RS LRE 258 HERT LARR 13 7R E5HiE =2 —Z—TF—-HA—H
HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business combinations 1 July 2009
BBV ERELEREIF (KIEET) RS —ZEThFLA—H
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments: classification and measurement 1 January 2013
BBV EREERIE R TRTE : 2BKkEFE —E—=F—H—H

The directors have confirmed that the group is in the process of
making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments,
new standards and new interpretations is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
group’s results of operations and financial position.

EECHIBANEE LA ERALFET  FEIR
REBEVRERMENTE - 25 0ERBRMALL
FEF] - R RBRES T EHARENEEXE
REABIRNER B R E
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Five Year Summary
L FME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA7&TAI{&E)

2009/10 2008/09 2007/08 2006/07 2005/06
“EBHhE-BF —TT\ETNF ZTTLET\F ZTTRETLE ZTTRETAE
HKS$#E T HK$# 7T HK$H# 7T HK$H# 7T HK$H 7T

Results E
Turnover =] 54,935,393 77,488,677 77,492,591 66,829,725 65,725,317
Profit from operations LR 643,727 2,299,518 2,404,538 792,233 1,989,624
Finance costs BERA (397,161) (799,671) (1,200,913) (1,440,191) (1,245,864)
Gain on disposal of HETHIEESRHEE

available-for-sale financial assets - - - 1,825,850 -
Profit before taxation 75 i A 246,566 1,499,847 1,203,625 1,177,892 743,760
Income tax FiSH: (42,600) (185,000) (118,015) (220,466) (150,000)
Profit for the year attributable R BIRR SR FE A 4 A

to shareholders of the company 203,966 1,314,847 1,085,610 957,426 593,760
Assets and liabilities EERAERE
Fixed assets ETEEE 175,823 372,042 659,642 792,989 361,123
Available-for-sale financial assets AHHESRHEE = - 1,653,600 1,487,900 3,527,893
Net current assets MEEE A 11,602,266 11,376,755 8,328,653 6,864,729 4,137,544
Net assets AEFE 11,778,089 11,748,797 10,641,895 9,145,618 8,026,560
Earnings per share SREF
Basic (HK cents) ER (L) 0.02 0.15 0.12 0.11 0.07
Diluted (HK cents) BE (L) 0.02 N/A NEA 0.12 N/A TNEA N/A TNEA
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